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SUBJECT:
General Overview
This section addresses the specific accounting, reporting, and budgeting conventions that
Minnesota counties should use. It details the mandatory procedures for all counties and those
that, while not mandatory, are desirable practices which counties should adopt.
COFARS addresses generally accepted accounting principles for local government. It has
modified suggested implementation of these principles to allow counties to account during the
year on a cash basis and convert to the modified accrual basis and accrual basis for year-end
reporting.
Since the time when the original COFARS manual was released, Minnesota counties have
generally modified their accounting methods to conform to the mandatory procedures. This
issue of COFARS is based on the new governmental financial reporting model established by
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board in Statement No. 34, Basic Financial
Statements--and Management’s Discussion and Analysis--for State and Local Governments.
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SUBJECT:
Internal Control
PURPOSE:
This section contains the internal control standards to be followed by counties in establishing
and maintaining systems of internal control.
PRINCIPLES:
Internal control systems are to reasonably ensure that the following objectives are achieved:
C

Expenditures and commitments comply with applicable law.

C

Assets are safeguarded against waste, loss, unauthorized use, and misappropriation.

C

Transactions are recorded properly so that reliable financial and statistical reports can
be prepared and accountability for assets is maintained.

The following concept of internal control is useful in understanding and applying the internal
control standards set forth and discussed on succeeding pages:
An internal control system consists of the plan of organization and methods
and procedures adopted by management to ensure that resource use is
consistent with laws, regulations, and policies; that resources are safeguarded
against waste, loss, and misuse; and that reliable data are obtained,
maintained, and fairly disclosed in financial statements.
The ultimate responsibility for good internal controls rests with management. Internal
controls should not be looked upon as separate, specialized systems. Rather, they should be
recognized as an integral part of each system that management uses to regulate and guide its
operations. In order to ensure the proper conduct of government business, management must
periodically review its internal control systems. This review should be sufficient in scope
to provide the answers to several basic questions:
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C

Are the systems we have in place adequate to manage and account for our resources,
meet our goals and objectives, and ensure compliance with state and federal
regulations?

C

Is there an audit trail from our reports to our source documents, or will we have to
rely on someone to “remember” the facts?

C

Are all our departments properly using the systems we have in place, and are they
complying with our internal policies and procedures?

C

Have we strengthened our system of internal control by segregating duties among our
employees to provide cross-checks and by providing for the physical security of our
assets (e.g., official prenumbered receipts, locking cash drawers, regular inventories,
etc.) to the maximum extent practicable?

These are the broad questions your auditor will also seek to answer through the course of his
or her audit. If you are satisfied with the results of your review, then there is a much greater
likelihood that your auditor will also be satisfied. If you identify problem areas, then you
have an opportunity to discuss them with your auditor and to correct them before the auditor
is obliged to comment on the problems in his or her report.
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SUBJECT:
Internal Control Structure
PRINCIPLES:
This section provides guidance on internal control policies that are based on the 1994 report
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO)
and standards adopted by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Federal Office of Management and Budget.
Internal control is defined in the COSO report as follows:
Internal control is a process affected by an entity’s board of directors, management,
and other personnel, designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
achievement of objectives in the following categories:
•

Effectiveness and efficiency of operations

•

Reliability of financial reporting

•

Compliance with applicable laws and regulations

What does this mean for counties?
Internal control is a management process for keeping an entity on course in achieving its
business objectives as adopted by the governing body. This management control system
should ensure that resources are guarded against waste, loss, and misuse; that reliable data
is obtained, maintained, and fairly disclosed in financial statements and other reports; and
resource use is consistent with laws, regulations, and policies.
Basic Internal Control Requirements
Each county is responsible for establishing and maintaining a collective system of internal
control throughout their government.
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An internal control system should provide reasonable assurance that an entity will
accomplish its objectives. The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that the cost of
an internal control activity should not exceed the benefit derived from it. Reasonable
assurance equates to a satisfactory level of confidence given considerations of costs, benefits,
and risks.
The county’s management must identify and analyze their own risks to determine how those
risks should be managed. Management defines the level of risk that the entity is willing to
accept and strives to maintain risks within those levels.
Each entity should adopt methods to assess risk and review control activities. The methods
developed should address each entity’s own specific needs.
Components of Internal Controls
The five components of good internal controls within a management control system are:
1.

Control Environment - The control environment sets the tone of an entity. It
influences the control consciousness of its people and it is the foundation for all other
components of internal control, providing discipline and structure. Control
environment factors include the integrity, ethical values, and competence of the
entity’s staff; management’s philosophy and operating style; the way management
assigns authority and responsibility; the way management organizes and develops its
staff; and the attention and direction provided by the board.

2.

Risk Assessment - Every entity faces a variety of risks from external and internal
sources, all of which must be assessed. Risk assessment is the identification and
analysis of relevant risks to achieving the objectives and forms a basis for
determining how risks should be managed. Because economic, regulatory, and
operating conditions will continue to change, mechanisms are needed to identify and
deal with the special risks associated with change.
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3.

Control Activities - Control activities are the internal policies and procedures that
help ensure management directives are carried out. They help ensure necessary
actions are taken to address risks to achieving the government’s objectives. Control
activities occur throughout the organization at all levels and in all functions. They
include a range of activities as diverse as approvals, authorizations, verifications,
reconciliations, review of operating performance, security of assets, and segregation
of duties.

4.

Information and Communication - Pertinent information must be identified,
captured, and communicated in a form and time frame that enables people to carry
out their responsibilities. Information systems produce reports containing
operational, financial, and compliance-related information, making it possible to run
and control the entity.
Effective communication is also essential with external parties, such as taxpayers,
vendors, legislators, and other interested parties.

5.

Monitoring - Management systems and internal activities need to be monitored to
assess the quality of their performance over time. Assessment is accomplished
through ongoing monitoring activities, separate evaluations, or a combination of the
two. Ongoing monitoring occurs in the course of operations, including regular
management and supervisory activities and other action personnel take in performing
their duties. The scope and frequency of separate evaluations will depend primarily
on an assessment of risks and the effectiveness of ongoing monitoring procedures.
Deficiencies should be reported upstream, with serious matters reported to top
management.

Common Questions About Internal Control
What is a risk assessment?
A risk assessment is an ongoing process to identify, analyze, and manage risk. An entity
needs a plan to identify both external and internal risks. The plan will help management
understand how those risks affect their activities, assess their significance, manage their
effect, and provide for continuous monitoring. The following are some examples of external
and internal risks:
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C

External risks arise from activities outside the entity. Technological developments,
changing public expectations, legislative directives, natural catastrophes, and
economic changes all have the potential for creating external risks in an entity.

C

Internal risks are less predictable and arise from activities inside the entity.
Disruption of the computer systems or telephone systems causes obvious operational
problems. When new managers are hired, changes in management style can affect
internal control objectives.

How do you identify risk?
Identification of risks can start from existing systems. The budget process, audits, strategic
planning, and other chapters included in this manual all provide opportunities for managers
to conduct quantitative and qualitative reviews and to identify and prioritize. More informal
opportunities include management planning meetings, meetings with an auditor, and
everyday interaction with staff.
More important than the specific method used to identify risks is management’s careful
consideration of factors unique to the entity. Some key factors, such as an entity’s past
experience in failing to meet objectives, staff quality, statutory framework, or the
significance and complexity of activities in relation to the entity’s mission, should receive
management’s careful consideration.
By analyzing organizational activities, managers apply risk assessment to functions.
Successfully managing risk at the activity level is vital to maintaining an acceptable level of
risk for the organization.
What is risk analysis?
Risk analysis involves a careful, rational process of estimating the significance of a risk,
assessing the likelihood of its occurrence, and considering what actions and controls need
to be taken to manage it. Risk analysis also involves estimating the cost to the entity if
something does go wrong. That analysis is based on the entity’s assumptions about the risk
and costs associated with reducing it. Sometimes an actual risk may appear to require one
set of actions, but the perceived risk, coupled with media reaction to that risk, requires a
more expensive set of actions.
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It is also important to recognize the distinction between risk assessment (a part of a
management control system) and actually managing risk (part of an organization’s
operations). Limitations on resources will define the level to which risks can be managed.
How do you control or minimize risk?
The control of risk starts with management deciding on the actions necessary to reduce the
potential occurrence and significance of loss and the monitoring conditions needed to remain
aware of changing circumstances. Management tools for an early warning system include
information systems and ensuring appropriate data is captured, processed, and reported.
If an entity builds its components of a management control system into its planning efforts,
as well as its daily activities, it is more likely to avoid unnecessary costs, make quick
responses as needs arise, and adapt to decreasing resources and changing political and
economic climates.
Do control activities increase staffing requirements?
Although control activity procedures are not intended to increase staffing levels, acceptable
procedures are to be established and followed which may require changes in existing
workloads and/or additional staff position(s). However, a periodic thorough internal review
of control activities may identify policies and procedures that are no longer required. It is
recognized that some small to medium entities may not be able to institute internal controls
on the same level as larger, more complex entities. In those cases where staffing may
prohibit or restrict the appropriate segregation of duties, management must either have more
active oversight of operations or utilize personnel from other organizational units to the
extent possible as compensating controls.
More About Control Activities
The control activities presented in this section are intended to provide management and other
staff with an overview on the use and potential limitations of control activities to manage the
risk of achieving the entity’s objectives.
Control activities are the policies and procedures that help ensure management directives are
carried out. They help ensure that necessary actions are taken to address risks to the
achievement of an entity’s objectives. Control activities occur throughout the entity at all
levels and in all functions.
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Control activities are actions taken to minimize risk. The need for a control activity is
established in the risk assessment process. When the assessment has identified a significant
risk to the achievement of an objective, a corresponding control activity should be
determined. If control activities are in place for each significant operation, and if
management makes sure those activities are carried out properly, staff can be reasonably
confident the management control system will provide the necessary assurances.
Control activities and procedures should be considered to ensure the entity is in compliance
with contracts, agreements, laws, and regulations applicable to counties. Generally, those
activities and procedures may be categorized into one of the following areas and completed
by personnel at various levels:
•

Top-level performance reviews - Performance reviews should be made of actual
performance versus budgets, forecasts, and performance in prior periods. Major
initiatives should be tracked and management actions taken to analyze and follow up
where appropriate.

•

Direct functional or activity management reviews - Performance reviews should
be made of specific functions or activities. The reviews may focus on compliance,
financial, or operational issues.

•

Informational processing - A variety of control activities should be performed to
check the accuracy and completeness of information as well as the authorization of
transactions. Development of new systems and changes to existing ones should be
controlled. Additionally, access to programs and data should be restricted.

•

Physical controls - Equipment, inventories, cash, and other assets should be secured
physically and periodically counted and compared with amounts shown on control
records.

•

Performance indicators - Certain operating results can be anticipated. By
investigating unexpected results or unusual trends, circumstances that jeopardize the
achievement of objectives can be identified.
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Segregation of duties - Duties are divided, or segregated, among different people to
reduce the risk of error or inappropriate actions. For example, responsibilities for
authorizing transactions, recording them, and handling the related assets should be
separated.

What are some potential limitations of control activities?
Control activities, no matter how well designed and executed, can provide only reasonable
assurance regarding achievement of objectives. The likelihood of achievement is affected
by limitations inherent in all control systems. These limitations include the following:
•

Judgment - The effectiveness of controls will be limited by the fact that decisions
must be made with human judgment in the time available, based on information at
hand, and under the pressures to conduct business.

•

Breakdowns - Even if control activities are well designed, they can break down.
Personnel may misunderstand instructions or simply make mistakes. Errors may also
stem from new technology and the complexity of computerized information systems.

•

Management override - Even in effectively controlled organizations, high level
personnel may be able to override prescribed policies or procedures for personal gain
or advantage. This should not be confused with management intervention, which
represents management actions to depart from prescribed policies or procedures for
legitimate purposes.

•

Collusion - Complicity between two or more individuals can result in control
failures. Individuals acting collectively often can alter financial data or other
management information in a manner that cannot be identified by the control system.

•

Cost vs. benefit - In determining whether a particular control activity should be
established, the risk of failure and the potential effect must be considered along with
the cost of establishing the control.
Excessive control is costly and
counterproductive. Too little control presents undue risk. Entities should make a
conscious effort to strike an appropriate balance.
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SUBJECT:
Accounting Principles
PURPOSE:
To interpret basic generally accepted accounting principles for counties.
PRINCIPLES:
Basic principles of accounting and financial reporting are based on those set forth in the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board’s (GASB) Codification of Accounting and
Financial Reporting Standards (COFARS). COFARS requires Minnesota counties to account
and report in conformity with these principles, except that the annual report required is not as
extensive as the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR). Most of these principles
are restated in detail in other portions of this section which deal with specific issues.
1.

2.

A county accounting system must make it possible to:
a.

Present fairly and with full disclosure the financial position and results of financial
operations of the funds of the county in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles.

b.

Determine and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal and contractual
provisions.

c.

Demonstrate compliance with state and federal grants and regulations.

A county accounting system must be organized and operated on a fund basis with
specific types of funds to be used (see Fund Accounting procedures, Section 3220). Fund
financial statements should be used to report detailed information about the primary
government and its blended component units. The focus of governmental and proprietary
fund financial statements is on the major funds.
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Counties should establish and maintain those funds required by law and sound financial
administration. Only the minimum number of funds consistent with legal and operating
requirements should be established. Funds accounted for in the financial records may
be combined for financial statement purposes.
3.

A clear distinction should be made between general capital assets and capital assets of
proprietary and fiduciary funds. Capital assets of proprietary funds should be reported
in both the government-wide and fund financial statements. Capital assets of fiduciary
funds should be reported only in the statement of fiduciary net assets. All other capital
assets of the county are general capital assets. They should not be reported as assets of
governmental funds but should be reported in the governmental activities column in the
government-wide statement of net assets.

4.

Capital assets should be reported at historical or estimated historical cost. The cost of
a capital asset should include ancillary charges necessary to place the asset into its
intended location and condition for use. Donated capital assets should be reported at
their estimated fair value at the time of acquisition, plus ancillary charges, if any.
Capital assets should be depreciated over their estimated useful lives unless they are
either inexhaustible or are infrastructure assets using the modified approach.
Inexhaustible assets, such as land and land improvements, should not be depreciated.
Depreciation expense should be reported in the government-wide statement of activities;
the proprietary fund statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in fund net assets; and
the statement of changes in fiduciary net assets.

5.

A clear distinction should be made between fund long-term liabilities and general
long-term liabilities. Long-term liabilities directly related to and expected to be paid
from proprietary funds should be reported in the proprietary fund statement of net assets
and in the government-wide statement of net assets. Long-term liabilities directly related
to and expected to be paid from fiduciary funds should be reported in the statement of
fiduciary net assets. All other unmatured general long-term liabilities of the county
should not be reported in the governmental funds, but should be reported in the
governmental activities column in the government-wide statement of net assets.
A distinction should be made between general long-term liabilities that relate to capital
assets and those that do not. The net assets (equity section) in the government-wide
statement of net assets reports capital assets net of related debt.
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6.

The government-wide statement of net assets and statement of activities should be
prepared using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of
accounting. Revenues, expenses, gains, losses, assets, and liabilities resulting from
exchange and exchange-like transactions should be recognized when the exchange takes
place. Revenues, expenses, assets, and liabilities resulting from nonexchange
transactions should be recognized in accordance with GASB Statements 24 and 33.
(See Section 3240.)

7.

In fund financial statements, the modified accrual or accrual basis of accounting, as
appropriate, should be used in measuring financial position and operating results. The
conversion from cash accounting to accrual accounting for year-end reporting is
mandatory. However, all counties may use an accrual accounting system on an ongoing
basis, but it is not generally recommended.
a.

Financial statements for governmental funds should be presented using the current
financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of
accounting. Revenues should be recognized in the accounting period in which they
become available and measurable. Expenditures should be recognized in the
accounting period in which the fund liability is incurred, if measurable, except for
unmatured interest on general long-term liabilities, which should be recognized
when due.

b.

Proprietary fund statements of net assets and revenues, expenses, and changes in
fund net assets should be presented using the economic resources measurement
focus and the accrual basis of accounting.

c.

Financial statements of fiduciary funds should be reported using the economic
resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, except for the
recognition of certain liabilities of defined benefit pension plans and certain
post-employment health care plans.

d.

Transfers should be recognized in the accounting period in which the interfund
receivable and payable arise.
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An annual budget should be adopted by every county.
a.

The accounting system should provide the basis for appropriate budgetary control.

b.

Budgetary comparisons should be included in required supplementary information
for the general fund and for each major special revenue fund that has a legally
adopted annual budget. The budgetary comparison schedule should present:
(1) the original budget; (2) the final appropriated budgets for the year; and (3) the
actual inflows, outflows, and balances stated on the county’s budgetary basis.
Written policies and procedures need to be adopted to define the budget practices
of the county. The policies should include the basis for the budget (that is, cash,
modified accrual, accrual, or other). The procedures for maintaining these
budgetary standards are outlined in Sections 3410 and 3420 entitled Minimum
Budgeting and Suggested Budgeting.

9.

Interfund transfers should be classified separately from fund revenues and expenditures
or expenses in the basic financial statements. Proceeds from long-term debt issues
should be classified separately from revenues and expenditures in the governmental fund
financial statements.
a.

Governmental fund revenues should be classified by fund and source.

b.

Governmental fund expenditures should be classified by fund, department,
program, and service, where applicable, and principal classes of objects.

c.

Proprietary fund revenues should be reported by major sources, and expenses
should be classified in essentially the same manner as those of similar business
organizations, functions, or activities.

d.

At a minimum, the statement of activities should present: (1) activities accounted
for in governmental funds by function to coincide with the level of detail required
in the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund
balance; and (2) activities accounted for in enterprise funds by different identifiable
activities.
The Uniform Chart of Accounts will accommodate all of the above accounting
principles.
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Common terminology and classifications should be used consistently throughout the
budget, the accounts, and the financial reports of each fund.
It is highly recommended that counties follow the Uniform Chart of Accounts. By
adhering to the terminology and classification within the Uniform Chart of Accounts, a
common basis will be developed within the county as well as between counties.

11.

Appropriate interim financial statements and reports of financial position, operating
results, and other pertinent information should be prepared to facilitate management
control of financial operations, legislative oversight, and where necessary or desired, for
external reporting purposes.

12.

Required annual financial reporting is:
a.

General purpose external annual financial reports should be prepared and
published. They should include, at a minimum:
1)

Management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A).

2)

Basic financial statements. The basic financial statements include:
-

3)

Government-wide financial statements
Fund financial statements
Notes to the financial statements

Required supplementary information other than MD&A.

Reporting requirements are discussed in detail in Sections 3310 and 3320 of this
manual. Example financial statements under these standards are presented in
Section 4330 of this manual.
b.

A comprehensive annual financial report may be prepared and published covering
all activities of the primary government (including blended component units) and
providing an overview of all discretely presented component units of the county-including introductory section, MD&A, basic financial statements, required
supplementary financial statements other than MD&A, combining and individual
fund statements, schedules, narrative explanations, and statistical section.
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The financial reporting entity consists of: (1) the primary government, (2) organizations
for which the primary government is financially accountable, and (3) other organizations
for which the nature and significance of their relationship with the primary government
is such that exclusion would cause the county’s basic financial statements to be
misleading or incomplete. The county’s government-wide financial statements should
display information about the reporting entity as a whole distinguishing between the total
primary government and its discretely presented component units as well as between the
primary government’s governmental and business-type activities. The county’s fund
financial statements should present the primary government’s (including blended
component units which are, in substance, part of the primary government) major funds
individually and nonmajor funds in the aggregate. Funds and component units that are
fiduciary in nature should be reported only in the statements of fiduciary net assets and
changes in fiduciary net assets.
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SUBJECT:
Sources of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
PURPOSE:
To identify the sources for generally accepted accounting principles to be applied by counties.
PRINCIPLES:
There are three primary authoritative sources of generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP) for local governments:
1.

GASB - Governmental Accounting Standards Board

2.

FASB - Financial Accounting Standards Board

3.

AICPA - American Institute of Certified Public Accountants

AICPA's Statement on Auditing Standards (SAS) No. 69 promulgates the new GAAP
hierarchy for state and local governments. The new hierarchy replaces the one which has been
in effect since the establishment of GASB in 1984.
The GAAP hierarchy, as prescribed by SAS No. 69, has five categories of sources of
accounting principles:
1.

GASB Statements and Interpretations, AICPA, and FASB pronouncements specifically
made applicable to state and local governmental entities by GASB Statements and
Interpretations.

2.

GASB Technical Bulletins and, if specifically made applicable to state and local
governmental entities by the AICPA and cleared by the GASB, AICPA Industry Audit
and Accounting Guides, and AICPA Statements of Position.

3.

AICPA Accounting Standards Executive Committee Practice Bulletins, if specifically
made applicable to state and local governmental entities and cleared by the GASB, and
GASB Emerging Issues Task Force Consensus Positions.
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4.

Implementation guides ("Qs and As") published by the GASB and practices that are
widely recognized and prevalent in state and local governments.

5.

Other sources: Concept Statements, pronouncements of the FASB not otherwise
applicable, textbooks, and articles. Also Audit and Accounting Guides/Statement of
Position (if specific to government, but not cleared by GASB).

In the absence of established pronouncements, counties may consider other accounting
literature. Other accounting literature includes, for example, GASB Concept Statements;
pronouncements establishing accounting principles for nongovernmental entities when not
specifically made applicable to state and local governments; Accounting Principal Board
(APB) Statements; FASB Concepts Statements; AICPA Issues Papers; International
Accounting Standards Committee (IASC) Statements; pronouncements of other professional
associations or regulatory agencies; AICPA Technical Practice Aids; and accounting
textbooks, handbooks, and articles.
GAAP for Proprietary Activities
GASB Statement No. 20, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Proprietary Funds and
Other Governmental Entities That Use Proprietary Fund Accounting, provides additional
guidance for establishing a GAAP hierarchy for proprietary activities.
Counties using proprietary accounting for its enterprise and internal service funds should apply
all applicable GASB pronouncements as well as the following pronouncements issued on or
before November 30, 1989, unless those pronouncements conflict with or contradict GASB
pronouncements:
S

FASB Statements and Interpretations;

S

APB Opinions; and

S

Accounting Research Bulletins (ARBs).

In addition, a proprietary activity may also apply all FASB Statements and Interpretations
issued after November 30, 1989, except for those that conflict with or contradict GASB
pronouncements.
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A proprietary activity should apply all or none of the FASB pronouncements issued after
November 30, 1989. The same application of FASB pronouncements is encouraged to be used
for all proprietary activities, including component units, in the general purpose financial reports
of the financial reporting entity. The provisions of the Statement are effective for annual
financial statements for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 1993. (Refer to GASB
Statement 20 for additional details.)
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SUBJECT:
Fund Accounting
PRINCIPLE:
The legal and accounting requirements of county government require that a number of separate
accounting entities be established.
DEFINITION:
A fund is a fiscal and accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts recording cash
and other financial resources, together with all related liabilities and residual equities or
balances, and changes therein, which are segregated for the purpose of carrying on specific
activities or attaining certain objectives in accordance with special regulations, restrictions, or
limitations.
TYPE OF FUNDS:
Governmental Funds
Governmental fund reporting focuses primarily on the sources, uses, and balances of current
financial resources and often has a budgetary orientation. The governmental fund category
includes the general fund, special revenue funds, debt service funds, capital projects funds, and
permanent funds.
1.

General Fund--to account for all financial resources, except those required to be
accounted for in another fund.

2.

Special Revenue Funds--to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources (other
than trusts for individuals, private organizations, or other governments or for major
capital projects) that are legally restricted to expenditures for specified purposes. The
general fund of a blended component unit should be reported as a special revenue fund.

3.

Debt Service Funds--to account for the accumulation of resources for, and the payment
of, general long-term debt principal and interest.
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4.

Capital Project Funds--to account for financial resources to be used for the acquisition
or construction of major capital facilities (other than those financed by proprietary funds
or by trust funds for individuals, private organizations, or other governments).

5.

Permanent Funds--to report resources that are legally restricted to the extent that only
earnings, and not principal, may be used for purposes that support the county’s programs;
that is, for the benefit of the county or its citizenry.

Proprietary Funds
Proprietary fund reporting focuses on the determination of operating income, changes in net
assets (or cost recovery), financial position, and cash flows. The proprietary fund category
includes enterprise and internal service funds.
1.

2.

Enterprise Funds may be used to report any activity for which a fee is charged to external
users for goods or services. Activities are required to be reported in enterprise funds if
any one of the following criteria is met.
a.

The activity is financed with debt that is secured solely by a pledge of net revenues
from fees and charges of the activity.

b.

Laws or regulations require that the activity’s costs of providing services, including
capital costs (such as depreciation or debt service), be recovered with fees and
charges, rather than with taxes or similar revenues.

c.

The pricing policies of the activity establish fees and charges designed to recover
its costs, including capital costs (such as depreciation or debt service).

Internal Service Funds may be used to report any activity that provides goods or services
to other funds, departments, or agencies of the county and its component units, or to
other governments, on a cost-reimbursement basis. Internal Service Funds should be
used only if the county is the predominant participant in the activity, for example, a
self-insurance fund. Otherwise, the activity should be reported in an enterprise fund.
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Fiduciary Funds
Fiduciary fund reporting focuses on net assets and changes in net assets. Fiduciary funds
should be used to report assets held in a trustee or agency capacity for others and, therefore,
cannot be used to support the county’s own programs. The fiduciary fund category includes
investment trust funds, private purpose trust funds, and agency funds.
1.

Investment Trust Funds--to account for specific investments held for others and the
external portion of investment pools reported by the county.

2.

Private Purpose Trust Funds--to account for all other trust arrangements for which
principal and income benefits individuals, private organizations, or other governments.

3.

Agency Funds--to account for resources held in a custodial capacity, typically involving
only the receipt, temporary investment, and remittance of fiduciary resources to
individuals, private organizations, or other governments.

NUMBER OF FUNDS:
Counties should establish and maintain those funds required by law and for sound financial
administration. Only the minimum number of funds consistent with legal and operating
requirements should be established since unnecessary funds result in inflexibility, undue
complexity, and inefficient financial administration.
Each fund must be accounted for in a separate self-balancing set of accounts for its assets,
liabilities, equity, revenues, expenditures or expenses (as appropriate), and transfers. This
requirement of a complete set of accounts for each fund refers to identification of accounts in
the accounting records and does not necessarily extend to physical segregation of assets and
liabilities.
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INTERFUND TRANSACTIONS:
Activity between funds of the county, including its blended component units, are divided into
two broad categories: reciprocal and nonreciprocal. Reciprocal interfund activity comprises
interfund loans and interfund services provided and used. Nonreciprocal interfund activity
comprises interfund transfers and interfund reimbursements.
1.

Interfund loans are amounts provided between funds and blended component units of the
county with a requirement for repayment. Interfund loans are reported as assets in the
loaning fund and liabilities in the borrowing fund. Interfund loans do not impact the
operating statement.

2.

Interfund services provided and used are sales and purchases of goods and services
between funds and blended component units of the county for a price approximating their
external exchange value. Interfund services provided and used are reported as revenues
in the fund providing the service and expenditures or expenses in the fund using the
service.

3.

Interfund transfers are flows of assets (such as cash or goods) between funds and blended
component units of the county without equivalent flows of assets in return and without
a requirement for repayment. Interfund transfers should be distinguished from revenues,
expenditures, or expenses in financial statements. Transfers should be reported in the
other financing sources (uses) section in the statement of revenues, expenditures, and
changes in fund balance (governmental funds) and in the contributions and transfers
section in the statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in fund net assets
(proprietary funds). Interfund transfers thus affect the results of operations in both
governmental and proprietary funds.

4.

Interfund reimbursements are repayments from the funds or blended component units of
the county responsible for particular expenditures or expenses to the funds or blended
component units of the county that initially paid for them. This type of transaction
should be recorded as an expenditure or expense (as appropriate) in the reimbursing fund
and as a reduction of the expenditure or expense in the fund that is reimbursed. An
example of this transaction would be an expenditure properly chargeable to a special
revenue fund which was initially made from the general fund and which is subsequently
reimbursed.
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LONG-TERM DEBT PROCEEDS:
Under the accrual basis of accounting used to report the operations and financial position of
the government in the government-wide financial statements and the proprietary and fiduciary
funds in the fund financial statements, proceeds of long-term debt increase the debt payable
liability account. Under the modified accrual basis of accounting used for the fund financial
statements of governmental funds, debt proceeds will be reported in the operating statement
of the recipient fund as “bond issue proceeds” or “proceeds from long-term notes.” In those
fund financial statements the liabilities are not reported in the funds.
BUDGETING ASPECTS:
In fund accounting, much significance is attached to the budget. The budget is appropriate for
managing and reporting on governmental operations. If the objectives of government are to
provide services while adhering to legal requirements, then the budget is the financial plan
embodied in the law introduced and enacted in the same manner as any other ordinance or
statute. In fund accounting, the budget is the goal. It is management’s plan for securing and
allocating resources. Comparing the operating results with the budget is a way of
demonstrating accountability and management performance.
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SUBJECT:
Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus
PRINCIPLE:
The government-wide statement of net assets and statement of activities should be prepared
using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. In fund
financial statements, the modified accrual or accrual basis of accounting, as appropriate, should
be used in measuring financial position and operating results. The measurement focus for
governmental funds is the current financial resources.
DEFINITION:
“Basis of accounting” refers to when revenues, expenditures, expenses, and transfers--and the
related assets and liabilities--are recognized in the accounts and reported in the financial
statements. Specifically, it relates to the timing of the measurements made, regardless of the
nature of the measurement, on either the cash or the accrual method. For example, whether
depreciation is recognized depends on whether expenses or expenditures are being measured
rather than on whether the cash or accrual basis is used.
“Measurement focus” describes the types of transactions and events that are reported in a
fund’s operating statement. Under the economic resources measurement focus, the concern
is measuring all transactions or events that increase or decrease net assets. The current
financial resources measurement focus is concerned with measuring transactions and events
that will increase or decrease resources available for current spending.
PROCEDURES:
Accrual Basis Reporting in Government-Wide Financial Statements
The Statement of Net Assets and the Statement of Activities should be prepared using the
economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues,
expenses, gains, losses, assets, and liabilities resulting from exchange and exchange-like
transactions should be recognized when the exchange takes place. Revenues, expenses, gains,
losses, assets, and liabilities resulting from nonexchange transactions should be recognized in
accordance with the requirements for nonexchange transactions, Section 3240 of this manual.
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Modified Accrual Basis in Governmental Fund Financial Statements
The major differences in applying the accrual concept in governmental fund accounting, as
opposed to that used in government-wide financial statements and proprietary and fiduciary
fund financial statements, relate to differences in the environment and in the accounting
measurement objectives. These modifications and adaptations for the practical and appropriate
implementation of the accrual concept in governmental fund accounting are best referred to as
the “modified accrual basis” and should be applied in all governmental fund accounting and
reporting.
Revenue Recognition
Revenues and other governmental fund financial resource increments are recognized in
the accounting period in which they become susceptible to accrual--that is, when they
become both measurable and available to finance expenditures of the fiscal period.
“Available” means collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to be
used to pay liabilities of the current period.
Revenues and other increases in governmental fund financial resources that usually can
and should be accrued include property taxes, regularly billed charges for services, most
grants from other governments, and interfund transfers and other transactions.
Service-type special assessment revenues should be treated like user fees.
Interest and dividend income should be recognized on the modified accrual basis.
Changes in the fair value of investments should be recognized as revenue in the
governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balance at
the end of each year. Such changes may be identified separately as an element of
investment income, captioned “net increase (decrease) in the fair value of investments.”
Realized gains and losses should not be displayed separately from the net increase
(decrease) in the fair value of investments in the financial statements.
Recreation fees, inspection charges, parking fees, and the vast multitude of miscellaneous
receipts are best recognized when cash is received.
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Section 3240 provides guidance on the recognition of revenues arising from nonexchange
transactions involving financial and capital resources, including property taxes, certain
grants, contributions, and fines. Application of the provisions of that section requires
analysis of the substance of a nonexchange transaction, rather than attention only to its
label. That section defines and uses four classes of nonexchange transactions.
Expenditure Recognition
The measurement focus of governmental fund financial statements is on expenditures-decreases in net financial resources--rather than expenses. Most expenditures and
transfers out are measurable and should be reported when the related liability is incurred.
Consistent with the flow of current financial resources measurement focus required for
governmental fund financial statements, governmental financial reporting standards
include criteria for distinguishing the portions of liabilities incurred by the government
that should be reported as:
a.

Governmental fund liabilities (claims against current financial resources), and

b.

General long-term liabilities of the government.

With the exception of long-term debt, counties should accrue a governmental fund
liability and expenditure in the period in which the government incurs the liability.
Governmental fund liabilities that should be accrued include liabilities that, once
incurred, normally are paid in a timely manner and in full from current financial
resources. For example, salaries, professional services, supplies, utilities, and travel.
The major exception to the general rule of expenditure accrual relates to unmatured
principal and interest on long-term debt. Governmental fund liabilities and expenditures
for debt service on general long-term debt, including capital leases, generally should be
recognized when due--that is, to the extent that portions of the debt mature during the
reporting period.
Section 3240 provides guidance on the recognition of liabilities arising from
nonexchange transactions involving financial and capital resources, including certain
grants and contributions. That section defines and uses four classes of nonexchange
transactions.
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Accrual Basis in Proprietary Fund Statements
Proprietary fund statements of net assets and revenues, expenses, and changes in fund net
assets should be presented using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual
basis of accounting.
Accrual Basis in Fiduciary Fund Statements
Financial statements of fiduciary funds should be reported using the economic resources
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.
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SUMMARY
The following table summarizes the measurement focus and basis of accounting applied to the
different fund types:

Measurement Focus

Fund Category

Governmental
Funds

Proprietary Funds

Fiduciary Funds

Fund Type

Economic
Resources

Current
Financial
Resources

Basis of Accounting

Accrual

Modified
Accrual

General

X

X

Special Revenue

X

X

Debt Service

X

X

Capital Projects

X

X

Permanent

X

X

Enterprise

X

X

Internal Service

X

X

Investment Trust

X

X

Private-Purpose Trust

X

X

Pension (and other
employee benefit)
Trust

X

X

Agency

X
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SUBJECT:
Nonexchange Transactions
DEFINITION:
In a nonexchange transaction, a government (including the federal government, as a provider)
either gives value (benefit) to another party without directly receiving equal value in exchange
or receives value (benefit) from another party without directly giving equal value in exchange.
There are four classes of nonexchange transactions based on their principal characteristics.
1.

Derived tax revenues result from assessments imposed by governments on exchange
transactions--like sales taxes. Income tax is also a derived tax revenue based on
corporate or personal income. The principal characteristics of derived tax revenues are
the assessing government imposes the tax on the provider and it is based on an exchange
transaction--such as income taxes imposed on the exchange of employee services for
wages. Most counties do not have derived tax revenues.

2.

Imposed nonexchange revenues result from assessments by governments on
nongovernmental entities, including individuals, other than derived tax revenues.
Examples of imposed nonexchange revenues are property taxes, fines and penalties, and
property forfeitures. The principal characteristic of imposed nonexchange revenues is
that the provision of resources is imposed by the government on an act committed or
omitted by the provider that is not an exchange transaction. For example, a speeding
ticket is imposed on a driver for speeding--this is an imposed nonexchange transaction
imposed by the government on an act committed by the provider of the revenue.

3.

Government-mandated nonexchange transactions occur when a government at one level
provides resources to a government at another level and requires that government to use
them for a specific purpose--like many grants. The principal characteristics of
government-mandated nonexchange transactions are the provider government mandates
that the recipient government perform a particular program or facilitate its performance
by another entity, and there are specific time and eligibility requirements that must be
met.
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Voluntary nonexchange transactions result from legislative or contractual agreements,
other than exchanges, entered into willingly between two or more parties--like certain
grants and donations. The principal characteristics of voluntary nonexchange
transactions are that they are not imposed on the provider or the recipient and that there
are eligibility requirements that must be met.

PROCEDURES:
All standards in this section apply whether the accrual basis or the modified accrual basis of
accounting is required, except for revenue recognition standards. For revenue recognition, the
standards apply when the accrual basis of accounting is required and modifications to the
standards for modified accrual basis of accounting are included in a separate section at the end.
Time Requirements and Purpose Restrictions
Enabling legislation or providers of resources in nonexchange transactions frequently stipulate
time requirements, purpose restrictions, or both. Time requirements specify the periods when
resources are required to be used or when use may begin. Purpose restrictions specify the
purpose or purposes for which the resources are required to be used.
Time requirements affect the timing of recognition of nonexchange transactions. Also, the
effect on the timing of recognition is different, depending on whether a nonexchange
transaction is: (a) an imposed nonexchange revenue transaction, or (b) a governmentmandated or voluntary nonexchange transaction.
In contrast to time requirements, purpose restrictions do not affect the timing of recognition
for any class of nonexchange transactions. Rather, recipients of resources with purpose
restrictions should report resulting net assets (or equity or fund balance, as appropriate) as
restricted until the resources are used for the specified purpose or for as long as the provider
requires the resources to be maintained intact.
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Reimbursements
Governments (including the federal government) frequently engage in award programs
commonly referred to as “reimbursement-type” or “expenditure-driven” grant programs. These
programs may be either government-mandated or voluntary nonexchange transactions,
depending on their characteristics. In either case, the provider stipulates the recipient cannot
qualify for resources without first incurring allowable costs under the provider’s program.
That kind of stipulation is not a purpose restriction, but is considered an eligibility requirement
and affects the timing of recognition. That is, there is no award--no revenue, expense, asset,
or liability--until the recipient has met the provider’s requirements by incurring costs in
accordance with the provider’s program.
Derived Tax Revenue Transactions
Counties do not usually have derived tax revenues but, if they do, they should recognize assets
from derived tax revenues in the period when the exchange transaction takes place or when the
resources are received, whichever is first. Revenues should be recognized in the same period
that the assets are recognized, provided the underlying exchange transaction has occurred.
Imposed Nonexchange Revenue Transactions
Counties should recognize assets from imposed nonexchange revenue transactions in the
period when an enforceable legal claim to the assets arises or when the resources are received,
whichever is first. For property taxes, the date when an enforceable legal claim to taxable
property arises is the first Monday in January (Minn. Stat. § 272.31).
Counties should recognize revenues from property taxes in the period for which the taxes are
levied, even if the enforceable legal claim arises or the due date for payment occurs in a
different period. All other imposed nonexchange revenues should be recognized in the same
period the assets are recognized, unless the enabling legislation includes time requirements.
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Government-Mandated Nonexchange Transactions and Voluntary Nonexchange
Transactions
Providers of resources in government-mandated or voluntary nonexchange transactions
frequently establish eligibility requirements. Eligibility requirements are conditions
established by enabling legislation or the provider that are required to be met before a
transaction can occur. That is, until those requirements have been met, the provider does not
have a liability, the recipient does not have a receivable, and the recognition of expenses or
revenues for resources transmitted in advance should be deferred.
Eligibility requirements comprise one or more of the following:
a.

Required characteristics of recipients; for example, the recipient must be a county.

b.

Time requirements, such as the period when the resources are required to be used,
disbursed, or consumed, or when use is first permitted or how long the resources are to
remain intact.

c.

Reimbursements, such as expenditure-driven grants.

d.

Contingencies, where the provider’s offer of resources is contingent on a specified action
of the recipient and that action has occurred.

Providers should recognize liabilities and expenses from government-mandated or voluntary
nonexchange transactions, and recipients should recognize receivables and revenues when all
applicable eligibility requirements are met. Resources transmitted before the eligibility
requirements are met should be reported as advances by the provider and as deferred revenues
by recipients.
Revenue Recognition in Governmental Fund Statements
Financial statements of governmental funds should be presented using the current financial
resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting, as the terms are
discussed in Section 3230 of this manual. Revenues from nonexchange transactions should
be recognized “in the accounting period when they become available and measurable.”
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When the modified accrual basis of accounting is used, revenues resulting from nonexchange
transactions should be recognized as follows:
1.

Derived tax revenues. Recipients should recognize revenues in the period when the
underlying exchange transaction has occurred and the resources are available.

2.

Imposed nonexchange revenues--property taxes. When a property tax assessment is
made, it is to finance the budget of a particular period, and the revenue produced from
any property tax assessment should be recognized in the fiscal period for which it was
levied, provided the “available” criteria are met. Available for property taxes means
collected within the current period or expected to be collected soon enough thereafter to
be used to pay liabilities of the current period. Such time thereafter shall not exceed
60 days.

3.

Imposed nonexchange revenues--other than property taxes. Recipients should recognize
revenues in the period when an enforceable legal claim has arisen and the resources are
available.

4.

Government-mandated nonexchange transactions and voluntary nonexchange
transactions. Recipients should recognize revenue in the period when all applicable
eligibility requirements have been met and the resources are available.
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SUBJECT:
Capital Assets and Depreciation on Capital Assets
PRINCIPLES:
A clear distinction should be made between general capital assets and capital assets of
proprietary and fiduciary funds. Capital assets of proprietary funds should be reported in both
the government-wide and fund financial statements. Capital assets of fiduciary funds should
be reported only in the statement of fiduciary net assets. All other capital assets of the county
are general capital assets. They should not be reported as assets of governmental funds, but
should be reported in the governmental activities column in the government-wide statement
of net assets.
Capital assets should be reported at historical or estimated historical cost. The cost of a capital
asset should include ancillary charges necessary to place the asset into its intended location and
condition for use. Donated capital assets should be reported at their estimated fair value at the
time of acquisition plus ancillary charges, if any.
Capital assets should be depreciated over their estimated useful lives, unless they are either
inexhaustible or are infrastructure assets using the modified approach. Inexhaustible assets,
such as land and land improvements, should not be depreciated. Depreciation expense should
be reported in the government-wide statement of activities; the proprietary fund statement of
revenues, expenses, and changes in fund net assets; and the statement of changes in fiduciary
net assets.
DEFINITION:
The term capital assets includes land, land improvements, easements, buildings, building
improvements, vehicles, machinery, equipment, works of art and historical treasures,
infrastructure, and all other tangible or intangible assets that are used in operations and that
have initial useful lives extending beyond a single reporting period. Infrastructure assets are
long-lived capital assets that normally are stationary in nature and normally can be preserved
for a significantly greater number of years than most capital assets. Examples of infrastructure
assets include roads and streets, bridges, lighting systems, traffic signals, storm drains,
sidewalks, and other. Buildings generally will not be considered infrastructure assets.
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PROCEDURES:
Reporting Capital Assets in Government-Wide Financial Statements
Capital assets that are being or have been depreciated should be reported net of accumulated
depreciation in the statement of net assets. Capital assets that are not being depreciated, such
as land or infrastructure assets reported using the modified approach, should be reported
separately.
Depreciation expense should be measured by allocating the net cost of depreciable assets over
their estimated useful lives in a systematic and rational manner. Depreciation expense should
be reported in the statement of activities as follows:
1.

Depreciation expense for capital assets that can specifically be identified with an expense
function should be included in its direct expenses. Depreciation expense for “shared”
capital assets should be ratably included in the direct expenses of the appropriate
functions.

2.

Depreciation expense for capital assets, such as a courthouse that essentially serves all
functions, is not required to be included in the direct expenses of the various functions.
This depreciation may be included as a separate line in the statement of activities or as
part of the “general government” function. In either case, the depreciation can be
allocated with other indirect expenses in a separate column of the statement. If a county
uses a separate line in the statement of activities to report unallocated depreciation
expense, it should clearly indicate on the face of the statement that this line item excludes
direct depreciation expenses of the various programs.

3.

Depreciation expense for general infrastructure assets should not be allocated to the
various functions. It should be reported as a direct expense of the function that county
associates the capital outlays for, maintenance of the infrastructure assets, or as a separate
line in the statement of activities.
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Reporting General Capital Assets
General capital assets are capital assets of the county that are not specifically related to
activities reported in proprietary or fiduciary funds. General capital assets are associated with
and generally arise from governmental activities. Most often, they result from the expenditure
of governmental fund resources. They should not be reported as assets in governmental funds
but should be reported in the governmental activities column in the government-wide statement
of net assets.
Reporting Capital Assets in Proprietary Fund Financial Statements
Capital assets of proprietary funds should be reported in the government-wide statement of net
assets and in the proprietary fund statement of net assets. Capital assets of proprietary funds
should be capitalized and reported as discussed in the principles above. The accounting policy
with respect to capitalization of interest costs incurred during construction should be disclosed
and consistently applied.
Reporting Capital Assets in Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements
Capital assets of fiduciary funds and component units that are fiduciary in nature should be
reported in the statement of fiduciary fund net assets. They should be capitalized and reported
as discussed in the principles above.
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SUBJECT:
Accounting for Long-Term Liabilities
PRINCIPLE:
A clear distinction should be made between fund long-term liabilities and general long-term
liabilities. Long-term liabilities directly related to and expected to be paid from proprietary
funds should be reported in the proprietary fund statement of net assets. Long-term liabilities
directly related to and expected to be paid from fiduciary funds should be reported in the
statement of fiduciary net assets. All other unmatured general long-term liabilities of the
governmental fund should not be reported as liabilities in governmental funds but should be
reported in the governmental activities column of the government-wide statement of net assets.
The general long-term debt of a county is secured by its general credit and taxing powers rather
than by its assets or specific fund resources. Further, just as general capital assets do not
represent financial resources available for appropriation and expenditure, the unmatured
principal of general long-term liabilities does not require current appropriation and expenditure
of governmental fund financial resources--to include it as a governmental fund liability would
be misleading and dysfunctional to the current period management control and accountability
functions.
A distinction should be made between general long-term liabilities that relate to capital assets
and those that do not. The net assets (equity section) in the government-wide statement of net
assets reports capital assets net of related debt.
DEFINITION:
General long-term debt is not limited to liabilities arising from debt issuances, but may also
include noncurrent liabilities on capital and operating leases, compensated absences, claims
and judgments, pensions, special termination benefits, landfill closure and postclosure care,
and other commitments that are not current liabilities properly reported in governmental funds.
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PROCEDURES:
Modified Accrual Recognition of Liabilities and Expenditures
Consistent with the flow of current financial resources measurement focus required for
governmental fund financial statements, governmental financial reporting standards include
criteria for distinguishing the portions of liabilities incurred by the government that should be
reported as:
1.

Governmental fund liabilities (claims against current resources), and

2.

General long-term liabilities of the government.

Reporting Expenditures for Governmental Fund Liabilities
Matured liabilities should be reported as governmental fund liabilities. Matured liabilities
include: (a) liabilities that are normally due and payable in full when incurred, and (b) the
matured portion of general long-term indebtedness (the portion that has come due for
payment).
The major exception to the general rule of expenditure accrual relates to unmatured principal
and interest on long-term debt. Governmental fund liabilities and expenditures for debt service
on general long-term debt, including capital leases, generally should be recognized when due-that is, to the extent that portions of long-term debt mature during a reporting period.
Accrual Recognition of Liabilities
Long-term liabilities directly related to and expected to be paid from proprietary funds should
be reported in the proprietary fund statement of net assets. Long-term liabilities directly related
to and expected to be paid from fiduciary funds should be reported in the statement of fiduciary
net assets. Under the accrual basis of accounting used to report the operations and financial
position of the government in the government-wide financial statements and the proprietary
and fiduciary funds in the fund financial statements, proceeds of long-term debt increase the
debt payable liability account and payments on long-term debt reduce the liability account.
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SUBJECT:
Financial Reporting Responsibilities/Requirements
PURPOSE:
To provide information related to county financial operations and conditions.
PRINCIPLES:
Appropriate interim financial statements and reports of financial position, operating results,
and other pertinent information should be prepared to facilitate management control of
financial operations, legislative oversight, and where necessary or desirable, for external
reporting purposes.
Counties must prepare and publish an annual financial report covering all funds of the
reporting entity, including management’s discussion and analysis, appropriate
government-wide financial statements, fund financial statements, and notes to the financial
statements. Combining and individual fund statements and supporting schedules are also
recommended to be included.
The requirements for financial reporting in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP) are established by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB).
GASB has adopted the standards prescribed by its predecessor, the National Council on
Governmental Accounting, including Statement 1, principle 12, which states:
1.

Appropriate interim financial statements and reports of financial position,
operating results, and other pertinent information should be prepared to
facilitate management control of financial operations, legislative oversight,
and where necessary or desired, for external reporting purposes.

2.

A comprehensive annual financial report covering all funds--including
appropriate combining and individual fund statements, schedules, narrative
explanations, and statistical--should be prepared and published.

The annual financial statements prepared by local governments were revisited and improved
substantially by GASB Statement 34, enacted in June 1999.
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PROCEDURES:
Interim Reporting
Timely and accurately presented financial reports are essential to managers, legislative
officials, creditors, financial analysts, the general public, and others with needs for county
financial information.
Principally, interim financial reports comprise statements that reflect the current financial
position at the end of the month or quarter. These reports generally compare actual financial
results with budgetary estimates and limitations for the month, quarter, and year-to-date.
Interim reports are typically prepared only for internal use. Thus, they often are prepared on
a budgetary basis and do not include government-wide statements on the accrual basis.
Further, they may properly contain budgetary or cash flow projections and other information
deemed pertinent to effective management control during the year.
External Reporting
External annual financial statements will include management’s discussion and analysis,
government-wide financial statements, fund financial statements, notes to the financial
statements, and required supplementary information other than management’s discussion and
analysis, if applicable. Combining and individual fund statements and supporting schedules
are also recommended to be included. Sample report formats are displayed in Section 4000.
RESPONSIBILITIES:
Management assumes responsibility for:
•

Preparing financial statements,

•

Adopting sound accounting policies,

•

Maintaining an effective accounting system,

•

Safeguarding assets, and

•

Maintaining a system of internal control that ensures production of proper financial
statements.
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The independent auditor is responsible for properly testing management systems of internal
control and for reporting whether management’s financial statements were prepared in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.
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SUBJECT:
Financial Reporting Entity
PURPOSE:
To describe the units of government which must be reported as part of the county’s financial
reporting entity.
PRINCIPLES:
Background
Accountability is the cornerstone of all financial reporting in government. Financial reporting
plays a major role in fulfilling government’s duty to be publicly accountable in a democratic
society. Accountability is the basis for defining the financial reporting entity. Financial
reporting based on accountability enables the financial statement reader to focus on the body
of organizations that are related by a common thread of accountability to the constituent
citizenry.
For various reasons, as allowed by statute, many separate organizations related to counties
have been established. Some of these public authorities have legal, financial, or administrative
autonomy that departments and agencies of the county do not have. Despite the outward
appearance of autonomy, or separateness, these organizations customarily are administered by
governing bodies that have been appointed by the board of county commissioners.
The county commissioners are elected by the citizenry to serve as their representatives to
promote the public health, safety, and general welfare of the citizens in the county. Thus, the
board is accountable to those citizens for its public policy decisions through the operations of
the county or by its designees through the operations of specially created organizations.
This broad-based notion of accountability by elected officials leads to the underlying concept
of the governmental financial reporting entity. Governmental organizations are responsible
to elected governing officials at the federal, state, or local level; therefore, financial reporting
by state or local governments should report the elected officials’ accountability for those
organizations.
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Definitions
Primary Government - The foundation of a primary government is a separately-elected
governing body--one that is elected by the citizens in a general, popular election. As the
nucleus of the financial reporting entity, the primary government generally is the focal point
for the users of the financial statements. A primary government is any state government or
general purpose local government, such as a county.
A primary government consists of all the organizations that make up its legal entity. All funds,
organizations, institutions, agencies, departments, or offices that are not legally separate are,
for financial reporting purposes, part of the primary government.
Component Unit - Component units are legally separate organizations for which the elected
officials of the primary government are financially accountable or organizations for which the
nature and significance of their relationship with the primary government are such that
exclusion would cause the reporting entity’s financial statements to be misleading or
incomplete.
PROCEDURES:
What Makes a Component Unit?
Two general rules will make an organization part of the county’s reporting entity.
1.

If the county board of commissioners appoints the governing board of the other
organization and it can either impose its will on it or has a financial benefit/burden
relationship with it.

2.

If the legally separate organization is fiscally dependent on the county.

Appointment of Governing Board
A county may be financially accountable if the county board appoints a voting majority of the
organization’s governing body (or is, by law, the governing body of the organization) and it
is: (1) able to impose its will on that organization, or (2) there is a potential for the
organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose specific financial burdens on,
the county.
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Imposition of Will
A primary government that is accountable for an organization because it appoints a
voting majority of that organization’s governing body frequently has the ability to affect
that organization’s operations. This ability is referred to as the primary government’s
ability to impose its will on the organization. A primary government is able to impose
its will on an organization if it can significantly influence the programs, activities, or
level of service performed or provided by the organization. The existence of any one of
the following conditions clearly indicates that a primary government has the ability to
impose its will on an organization:
a.

The ability to remove appointed members of the organization’s governing body at
will.

b.

The ability to modify or approve the budget of the organization.

c.

The ability to modify or approve rate or fee changes affecting revenues, such as
water usage rate increases.

d.

The ability to veto, overrule, or modify the decisions of the organization’s
governing body.

e.

The ability to appoint, hire, reassign, or dismiss those persons responsible for the
day-to-day operations (management) of the organization.

Financial Benefit/Burden
A primary government that is accountable for an organization because it appoints a
voting majority of that organization’s governing body frequently receives a financial
benefit or incurs a financial burden in the relationship. An organization has a financial
benefit or burden relationship with the primary government if any one of these conditions
exists:
a.

The primary government is legally entitled to or can otherwise access the
organization’s resources.
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b.

The primary government is legally obligated or has otherwise assumed the
obligation to finance the deficits of, or provide financial support to, the
organization.

c.

The primary government is obligated in some manner for the debt of the
organization.

Fiscal Dependency
The county may be financially accountable if an organization is fiscally dependent on the
county regardless of whether the organization has a separately elected governing board, a
governing board appointed by a higher level of government, or a jointly appointed board.
Fiscal dependency does not necessarily imply that a financial benefit or burden relationship
exists. An organization is fiscally dependent on the county if the county is able to reduce or
modify the organization’s budget, the county has to approve tax levies or rates set by the
organization, or the county has to approve bonded debt issues of the organization. A
distinction should be made between substantive approvals and ministerial (or compliance)
approvals.
PRESENTATION:
Financial statements of the county should provide an overview of the county based on financial
accountability, yet allow users to distinguish between the primary government and its
component units. Because of the closeness of their relationships with the primary government,
some component units should be blended as though they were part of the primary government;
however, most component units should be discretely presented.
Most component units should be included in the financial reporting entity by discrete
presentation. Discrete presentation entails reporting component unit financial data in
columns/rows separate from the financial data of the primary government.
Even though it is desirable for users to be able to distinguish between the primary government
and its component units, there are some component units that, despite being legally separate
from the primary government, are so intertwined with the primary government that they are,
in substance, the same as the primary government. These component units are reported as if
they were funds of the primary government. This method of inclusion is known as blending.
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A component unit should be blended with the primary government in either of the following
circumstances:
1.

The component unit’s governing body is substantively the same as the governing body
of the primary government.

2.

The component unit provides services entirely, or almost entirely, to the primary
government or otherwise exclusively, or almost exclusively, benefits the primary
governments even though it does not provide services directly to it. The essence of this
type of arrangement is much the same as an internal service fund.
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SUBJECT:
External Financial Reporting
PURPOSE:
To describe minimum requirements for general purpose external financial reporting and the
units of government which affect the county accounting system.
PRINCIPLES:
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A)
The MD&A should introduce the basic financial statements and provide an analytical overview
of the county’s financial activities. It is part of the required supplementary information;
however, it should be presented before the basic financial statements. The MD&A should
provide an objective and easily readable analysis of the county’s financial activities. It should
include comparisons of current year to prior year based on the government-wide financial
information. It also includes information regarding the county’s budget variances, capital
assets, long-term debt activity, and a description of currently known facts, decisions, or
conditions expected to have a significant effect on financial position or results of operations.
Basic Financial Statements
•

Government-Wide Financial Statements (see Section 3340)
The government-wide financial statements require counties to distinguish between
governmental and business-type activities.
Governmental activities generally are financed through taxes, intergovernmental
revenues, and other nonexchange transactions. Governmental activities are usually
reported in the governmental fund types and internal service funds in the fund financial
statements. Examples of governmental activities include public safety, highways and
streets, and welfare services.
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Business-type activities are financed in whole or in part by fees charged to the users of
the services. They are reported in the enterprise funds in the fund financial statements.
Examples include nursing homes and landfills.
Internal service funds are generally reported with the governmental activities, but they
may also be reported with the business-type activities if the predominant users of these
funds are enterprise funds. Some interfund balances are to be eliminated. (See
Eliminations in Section 3340.)
The government-wide financial statements consist of a statement of net assets and a
statement of activities. They are prepared using the economic resources measurement
focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Each statement distinguishes between the
governmental and business-type activities of the primary government and its discretely
presented component units.
Statement of Net Assets
The statement of net assets presents the county as one economic unit rather than a
compilation of different funds. The statement focuses on type of activities rather than
type of funds. Counties should report all capital assets, including infrastructure assets,
in the government-wide statement of net assets. The net assets should be reported in
three categories: invested in capital assets - net of related debt, restricted, and
unrestricted.
Statement of Activities
The statement of activities is a report on the results of the county’s operations. The
statement presents the cost of each function and the extent to which each of the county’s
functions, programs, or services either contributes to or takes away from the county’s
general revenues.
•

Fund Financial Statements (see Section 3350)
Governmental Fund Financial Statements
Governmental funds should be reported using the current financial resources
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. These funds are
presented by general fund, major funds, and aggregated nonmajor funds.
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Two statements are required: the balance sheet and the statement of revenues,
expenditures, and changes in fund balance. General capital assets and general long-term
liabilities are not reported in the governmental fund balance sheet. The statement of
revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balance reports information about the
inflows, outflows, and balances of current financial resources.
Each statement reports separate columns for the general fund and for other major
governmental funds. The nonmajor funds are reported in aggregate in a separate column.
Proprietary Fund Financial Statements
Proprietary funds continue to be reported on the economic resources measurement focus
and the full accrual basis of accounting. These funds are reported as major enterprise
funds, aggregated nonmajor enterprise funds, and aggregated internal service funds.
Three statements are required for proprietary funds: statement of net assets; statement
of revenues, expenses, and changes in fund net assets; and statement of cash flows.
The proprietary statement of net assets presents assets and liabilities in a classified
format. Restricted assets are reported separately. Net assets should be reported in the
following three components: invested in capital assets - net of related debt, restricted,
and unrestricted.
The proprietary statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in fund net assets reports
in a specific format. All transactions affecting net assets are included. Revenues are
reported by major source. Expenses are reported by either detail (object) or function
level. Revenues and expenses should distinguish between operating and nonoperating.
Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements
The fiduciary statements are prepared using the economic resources measurement focus
and full accrual basis of accounting. Two statements are required: statement of fiduciary
net assets and statement of changes in fiduciary net assets.
Agency funds should be reported in the statement of fiduciary net assets. Their fund
assets should equal fund liabilities. Agency funds do not have operations and should not
be included in the statement of changes in fiduciary net assets.
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The statement of fiduciary net assets should include information about the assets,
liabilities, and net assets for each fiduciary fund type and for similar discretely presented
component units of the reporting entity.
The statement of changes in fiduciary net assets should include information about the
additions to, deductions from, and net increase (decrease) in net assets for the year for
each fiduciary fund type and component unit. It should provide information about
significant year-to-year changes in net assets.
Notes to the Financial Statements
Notes to the financial statements are essential to fair presentation of the basic financial
statements. The notes include the summary of significant accounting policies and summary
disclosure of such matters as significant contingent liabilities, encumbrances outstanding,
significant effects of subsequent events, pension plans, accumulated unpaid employee benefits
(such as vacation and sick leave), material violations of finance-related legal and contractual
provisions, debt service requirements to maturity, commitments under capitalized leases,
construction and other significant commitments, any excess of expenditures over
appropriations in individual funds, deficit balances of individual funds, and interfund
receivables and payables. Any other disclosures necessary in the circumstances should be
included.
Required Supplementary Information
Statements, schedules, statistical data, and other information the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board deems necessary is reported as required supplementary information (RSI).
Except for the MD&A, RSI, including budgetary comparison information, should be presented
immediately following the notes to the financial statements.
Four types of RSI must be presented where applicable:
•

Budgetary comparisons (for the general fund and major special revenue funds),

•

Infrastructure condition and maintenance data (for counties using the modified
approach),
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REPORTING TO OTHER GOVERNMENTAL UNITS:
The elements of the county accounting system are subject to the reporting requirements of the
agencies listed below which have administrative or statutory authority to request accounting
information.
In order to comply with statutory reporting requirements, counties should utilize the Uniform
Chart of Accounts in a manner that will give them the widest variety of external reporting
capabilities.
The following state agencies may require financial data from Minnesota counties:
•

State Auditor - financial statements and related data;

•

Department of Revenue - tax and tax-related data, levy data, grants-in-aid;

•

Department of Human Services - financial and programmatic data;

•

Department of Health - financial and programmatic data;

•

Department of Corrections - financial and programmatic data;

•

Department of Transportation - basic cost accounting data and data to determine state-aid
money;

•

Department of Education (formerly Children, Families and Learning) - financial and
programmatic data;

•

Department of Public Safety - motor vehicle sales and data on fines imposed for statutory
violations;
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State Planning Agency - informational requests; and

•

Department of Economic Security - financial and programmatic data.
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In addition to state agencies, the following may require financial data:
•

Judicial branch - under the Court Administrator’s Act, financial data will be reported;
and

•

Legislature - specific requests.

Local units of government may require financial information as it relates to the counties’ trust
and agency function, court fines, special assessments, etc.
Additionally, numerous federal agencies, either directly or through state agencies, may require
significant quantities of accounting-related data from counties.
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SUBJECT:
Government-Wide Financial Statements
PURPOSE:
To describe minimum requirements for the government-wide financial statements on the
economic resources measurement focus and the full accrual basis of accounting.
PRESENTATION:
The government-wide financial statements consist of a statement of net assets and a statement
of activities. They are prepared using the economic resources measurement focus and the
accrual basis of accounting. Each statement distinguishes between the governmental and
business-type activities of the primary government and its discretely presented component
units. Statements should always have a total column/row for the primary government. A total
column for the county as a whole is permitted but not required. Prior year or comparative data
may be presented in the government-wide statements but are not required.
The reports should follow the basic format illustrated in Section 4000 of this manual.
Statement of Net Assets
The statement of net assets presents the county as one economic unit rather than a compilation
of different funds. The statement focuses on type of activities rather than type of funds.
Counties should report all capital assets, including infrastructure assets, in the
government-wide statement of net assets. They should report the net assets in three categories:
invested in capital assets - net of related debt, restricted, and unrestricted.
The financial statements should include separate information for each major discretely
presented component unit. The county can meet this requirement in one of three ways:
1.

Include a separate column for each major discretely presented component unit on the face
of the statement of net assets (with a single aggregated column for nonmajor component
units).
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2.

Within the basic financial statements, include a combining statement of net assets for
major discretely presented component units (with a single aggregated column--nonmajor
component units--and a total column that supports the presentation on the face of the
government-wide statement of net assets).

3.

Include condensed financial statements for each major component unit in the notes to the
financial statements.

The county has two format options to present net assets--either the net assets format (assets
minus liabilities equal net assets) or the balance sheet format (assets equal liabilities plus net
assets). COFARS illustrates the net assets format in Section 4000.
Assets
Assets should be presented either in order of their relative liquidity or in the classified format.
Liquidity describes how readily an asset can be converted into cash. Liquidity may also depend
on whether restrictions exist limiting the use of those resources. Restricted assets should be
analyzed as to their liquidity and placed accordingly in the financial statement.
The statement’s lines are not specifically defined and the county should use its own judgment
regarding how much detail it wants to present in the statement of net assets. For example,
capital assets may be one line or have separate lines for land, buildings, infrastructure, and
others. The county should list separately any assets with significant balances.
Liabilities
Liabilities should be presented in order of their relative liquidity based on their maturity or
when cash will be used to liquidate them.
Liabilities with average maturities greater than one year should be reported in two parts: the
amount due within one year and the amount due in more than one year. The face of the
financial statement should include a summary of liability balances and the details about
changes in liabilities should be provided in the notes to the financial statements. This
requirement applies not only to bonded debt but also to operating liabilities like compensated
absences and claims and judgments. The portion “due within one year” needs to be reasonably
estimated.

August 2003
Minnesota County Financial Accounting & Reporting Standards

STANDARD PROCEDURES
Reporting (Continued)

3340
Page 3

Net Assets
The difference between a county’s assets and liabilities is its net assets. The county should
display net assets in three components:
•

Invested in capital assets, net of related debt;

•

Restricted net assets; and

•

Unrestricted net assets.
Invested in Capital Assets - Net of Related Debt
The amount should be calculated as follows:
1.

Capital asset balances in the statement of net assets (including restricted capital
assets);

2.

Minus accumulated depreciation (if capital assets are not reported net); and

3.

Minus outstanding balances of any bonds, mortgages, notes, or other capital-related
debt attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets.

If no capital debt exists, the line should be captioned “invested in capital assets.”
All capital assets should be reported in “invested in capital assets, net of related debt,”
regardless of restrictions, but financial resources restricted for capital asset acquisition
should not be included. That is, unspent bond proceeds or capital grants on hand would
be reported as restricted net assets offset by the unspent portion of the bonds payable.
Capital assets related debt should include debt issued to refund existing capital-related
debt. When deducting the related debt, the amount of the debt should be adjusted for any
accumulated amounts of non-interest bearing or deep-discount debt discounts.
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If a county issued debt to finance the capital assets of another government, this debt
should not reduce the “invested in capital assets, net of related debt” unless the capital
assets are also reported by the county issuing the debt. If the assets are not reported, the
debt should be reported in “unrestricted net assets.” If the amount is significant, the
county should disclose details in the notes to the financial statements.
Restricted Net Assets
Net assets should be reported as restricted when constraints placed on their use are either
externally imposed by creditors (such as debt covenants), grantors, contributors, or laws
or regulations of other governments; or imposed by law through constitutional provisions
or enabling legislation.
Restricted net assets should be reduced by liabilities related to those assets. Restricted
net assets should be reported by the major categories of restrictions. No category of
restricted net assets can be negative. If liabilities related to restricted assets exceed those
assets, no balance should be reported, and the negative amount should be reported as a
reduction to unrestricted net assets.
Restricted net assets of permanent funds should be reported as expendable and
nonexpendable.
Unrestricted Net Assets
No specific criteria exist for determining when an asset is an unrestricted net asset. It is
the default category. If the asset does not meet the criteria for “capital assets, net of
related debt” or “restricted net assets,” it should be reported as unrestricted. Designations
of unrestricted net assets should not be reported on the face of the statement of net assets,
but can be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
It is possible for the “unrestricted net assets” to be a negative number.
Statement of Activities
The statement of activities is a report on the results of the county’s operations. The statement
presents the cost of each function and the extent to which each of the county’s functions,
programs, or services either contributes to or takes away from the county’s general revenues.
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The statement of activities distinguishes between governmental and business-type activities.
Eliminations are required between and within the fund/programs of the primary government.
Eliminating entries are not required between the primary government and its discretely
presented component units. These transactions are considered external, and the
receivables/payables between them should be reported on separate lines.
Internal service funds are not reported on the statement of activities unless they provide goods
or services to entities outside the primary government.
Expenses/Functions
At a minimum, the statement of activities should present activities accounted for in
governmental funds by function. The standards define a function as a group of activities aimed
at accomplishing a major service or regulatory responsibility (for example, general
government, public safety, or human services). All functions of a government have expenses.
Some functions generate revenues.
The activities accounted for in the enterprise funds should be presented by different identifiable
activities. The activity is identifiable if it has a specific revenue stream and related expenses
and gains and losses accounted for separately.
The county should be careful in determining what level of detail it will present in the statement
of activities. Programs may be presented for all or some functions. The statement, when too
detailed, may be overwhelming for its users. The same level of detail is not required for each
function.
Direct Expenses
Report all expenses by function, except the special or extraordinary items and transfers.
At a minimum, counties should report direct expenses for each function. Direct expenses
are those specifically associated with a service, program, or department and clearly
identifiable to a particular function. All expenses reported in the enterprise fund
financial statements (except special and extraordinary items) should be reported in the
business-type activities function as direct expenses of that function.
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Indirect Expenses
Indirect functions, such as general government, support services, or administration
should report as direct expenses those expenses that are indirect expenses of other
functions. However, counties may allocate some or all indirect expenses to other
functions. If counties choose to allocate some or all indirect expenses, they must use a
separate column in the statement of activities. A total column of direct and indirect
expenses is optional.
Depreciation Expense
Depreciation expense should be reported on the statement of activities. Counties can use
any systematic and rational depreciation method. Depreciation expense for capital assets
that can be specifically identified with a function should be included in the direct
expenses of that function. Depreciation expense for shared capital assets should be
allocated to the functions sharing the assets.
If a capital asset, such as the county courthouse, serves essentially all functions and it is
not practical to allocate the depreciation to those functions, that expense should be
reported in a separate line or as part of the expenses of the general government function.
If a county chooses a separate line, it should clearly indicate that the line excludes the
direct depreciation reported in the specific functions. Depreciation may also be allocated
through a separate indirect expense column.
Interest Expense
The interest on general long-term debt should be reported as a separate function. The
interest expense function should include interest on bonds and notes, capital leases and
other vendor financing arrangements, claims and judgments, pension-related debts, and
employer net pension obligations.
In extreme situations, when the borrowing is essential to the creation or continuation of
the program and omitting interest expense would be misleading (for example, loan
programs), the interest on general long-term debt can be reported as a direct expense.
Then, the interest expense function line should be clearly labeled to show that not all
interest is reported there.
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Interest expense in enterprise funds should be reported as direct expenses for those
functions.
Revenues
Revenues are reported as either program or general revenues. Program revenues are generated
directly by the program itself. Nonexchange revenues (except taxes) are program revenues if
restricted to a specific program. If not restricted, they should be reported as general revenue.
Taxes are always general revenues, even if restricted to a specific program. Revenues from
the government itself (such as investment earnings) are usually general revenues.
Program Revenues
Program revenues reduce the expenses of the function/program that generates them and
show the net costs of the function/program to be financed with general revenues.
Generally, program revenues should not be allocated to multiple functions.
Program revenues include charges for services and program-specific operating and
capital grants and contributions. Charges for services are to customers who purchase,
use, or directly benefit from the goods, services, or benefits. The charges generally result
from exchange or exchange-like transactions. They include fees for services, licenses,
permits, fines, forfeitures, special operating assessments, and charges for interfund
services. Charges for services should be reported net of any uncollectible amounts.
Charges for services are program revenues of a function/program that assesses the charge
even if the money is required to be spent by a different function/program.
Operating revenues reported in enterprise funds should be reported as charges for
services of business-type activities. Nonoperating revenues, with the exception of taxes
and investment income, should also be reported as program revenues.
Program-specific grants and contributions, both operating and capital, arise from the
transactions with other governments, organizations, or individuals that restrict the use of
resources for particular purposes. They may be either mandatory or voluntary
nonexchange transactions. The restrictions indicate the function/program where they
should be reported. Not all grants and contributions are program revenues.

August 2003
Minnesota County Financial Accounting & Reporting Standards

STANDARD PROCEDURES
Reporting (Continued)

3340
Page 8

Operating grants and contributions are used to finance operations of specific
functions/programs and should be reported separately from capital grants and
contributions. Capital grants and contributions are restricted to purchasing, constructing,
or renovating capital assets associated with a specific program.
Unrestricted grants and contributions should be reported as general revenues.
Earnings on endowments or permanent fund investments should be reported as program
revenues if restricted to a program or programs specifically identified in the endowment
or permanent fund agreement or contract. Also, earnings on investments not held by
permanent funds may be legally restricted to specific functions or programs. Those
earnings should be reported as program revenues.
General Revenues
General revenues include all revenues and gains that do not meet the definition of
program revenues. The one exception is that taxes (including taxes levied for specific
purposes) should always be reported as general revenues. Taxes should be reported by
type of tax (property, sales, or other). General revenues also include gains from routine
selling or disposing of capital assets. General revenues are reported in the statement of
activities after the total net expense of the county’s functions.
All general revenues, including taxes, should be reported net of estimated refunds and
uncollectible amounts.
Shared revenues and entitlements should be reported in the same way as grants and
contributions.
Investment income (including realized and unrealized gains and losses) should be
reported as general revenues. Some possible exceptions include investment earnings
with specific restrictions, such as legal restrictions on permanent fund investments or
earnings on grants.
Investment income in enterprise funds should be reported as general revenues in the
business-type activities column in the statement of activities.
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Net Program (Expense) Revenue
Separate columns should be used to identify net program (expense) revenue for each
function/program category of the governmental activities and business-type activities and for
discretely presented component units.
Contributions to term and permanent endowments and permanent fund principal should be
reported in a separate category after general revenues. They cannot be used to finance any
function/program, so they cannot be reported as a reduction of functional expenses.
Extraordinary and special items should be reported in a separate category after general
revenues and endowment and permanent fund contributions.
Extraordinary items are transactions or other events that are both unusual in nature and
infrequent in occurrence. Examples of extraordinary items might include environmental
or natural disasters.
Special items are significant transactions or other events within the control of
management that are either unusual in nature or infrequent in occurrence (for example,
the sale of certain capital assets, an early retirement program, or the forgiveness of
significant debt). Transactions or other events that are either unusual or infrequent, but
not within the control of management, should be disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.
Before classifying a transaction or event as extraordinary or special, a county should assess the
materiality and significance of the transaction or event in the context of the financial statement
in which it will be presented. Something significant or material in the fund financial
statements may not be significant or material in the government-wide financial statements.
Transfers within the governmental or business-type activities are eliminated. The net amount
transferred between the two types of activities should be reported as a single line after special
items. Interfund payments in lieu of taxes (PILOTS) that are not payments for services (or are
not reasonably equivalent to the value of services provided) should be reported as transfers.
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Eliminations
Eliminations are necessary to report information about the overall county without displaying
individual funds. Interfund activities and balances are eliminated to avoid inappropriate
“grossing-up” of balances and activities.
Transactions between the primary government and discretely presented component units
should be treated as if they are between unrelated third parties. No elimination should be made
for these transactions in the primary government columns or the discretely presented
component unit column(s). Payables and receivables between the primary government and
discretely presented component units or between component units should be reported in
separate lines in the statement of net assets.
Transactions between the primary government and blended component units should be
reclassified or eliminated in the same way as internal activities and balances within the primary
government. The eliminations or reclassifications will prevent the government from double
counting.
First, transactions should be eliminated within the governmental activities column and
business-type activities column and then separately in the primary government column for the
balances between the governmental and business-type activities. An elimination column in the
statements is not necessary. The internal balances can be reported in a single line in both
governmental and business-type activities. One of them will be negative and they should add
to zero.
Statement of Net Assets
To complete the statement of net assets, do the following eliminations:
1.

Eliminate interfund receivables and payables between funds reported in the
governmental activities column. Include internal service funds unless they are
reported in the business-type activities column. Add the amounts together;
receivables should equal payables. Eliminate both the asset and liability in the
governmental activities column.
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2.

Eliminate interfund receivables and payables between funds reported in the
business-type activities column. Include internal service funds unless they are
reported in the governmental activities column. Add the amounts together;
receivables should equal payables. Eliminate both the asset and liability in the
business-type activities column.

3.

Eliminate interfund receivables and payables between governmental and
business-type activities from the primary government column. Internal payables
should equal internal receivables.

4.

Reclassify amounts due from or to fiduciary funds as external receivables or
payables.

Statement of Activities
The following internal or interfund activities should be analyzed for elimination or
reclassification in the statement of activities.
1.

Internal service fund. Only residual balances are reported. Internal revenues
(except investment income) and expenses (except interest) should be netted. The
difference should be charged back entirely or on a pro-rata basis to the
funds/functions that used services or acquired goods from that internal service
fund. That is, if the internal service fund reports net income, the entire amount
should be charged back to the participating funds and would reduce their expenses
related to the services and goods purchased from that fund.
Before allocating any of the balances, the county should consider their materiality.
Also, instead of prorating balances to different functions, it may be sufficient to
allocate the entire amount to the predominant function--that is, if such failure to
allocate would not materially affect the government-wide financial statements. The
revenues and expenses associated with services provided to external customers
should be excluded from this allocation.
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2.

Interfund activity similar to internal service fund charges. When a different fund
than internal service (for example, general fund) provides services to other funds
and reports the charges as revenue, both amounts (revenue and expense) should be
eliminated. If the fund providing the service reports the charges as a reduction of
its own expenses (that is, as an interfund reimbursement), the elimination is not
necessary.

3.

Allocation of overhead expenses. Although not acting as internal service funds,
some funds charge other funds for what are, in effect, allocations of overhead
expenses. These allocations should be treated the same way as interfund activity.

4.

Interfund services provided and used (quasi-external transactions). The “like
external” sales and purchases of goods or services should not be eliminated.

5.

Transfers within the governmental or business-type activities have to be eliminated.
The net amount transferred between both types of activities should be reported on
a single line after extraordinary and special items.

6.

Transactions between different functions but within the same fund should be
eliminated. They should be reported in the function to which they were allocated.
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SUBJECT:
Fund Financial Statements
PURPOSE:
To describe minimum requirements for the fund financial statements on the different
measurement focuses and the full/modified accrual bases of accounting.
PRINCIPLES:
Fund Types
Funds are classified into one of three basic fund types: governmental, proprietary, or fiduciary.
The governmental fund type consists of:
•

General Fund

•

Special Revenue Funds

•

Debt Service Funds

•

Capital Project Funds

•

Permanent Funds

The proprietary fund type consists of:
•

Enterprise Funds

•

Internal Service Funds
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Although internal service funds are classified in the proprietary fund type (and are reported as
such in the fund financial statements), they should generally be included as part of the
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. If an internal service
fund’s predominant customers are external entities or enterprise funds, it would be reported
with the business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements.
The fiduciary funds are limited to account for resources that are not available to support the
county’s operations and programs. This fund type includes:
•

Private-Purpose Trust Funds

•

Pension (and Other Employee Benefit) Trust Funds

•

Investment Trust Funds (GASB Statement 31)

•

Agency Funds (If the agency fund holds amounts for other funds of the county, those
amounts would be reclassified to the appropriate fund for financial statement reporting.)

Major Funds
The governmental and proprietary fund financial statements have to provide financial
information for each major fund in a separate column. Major funds represent the county’s
most important funds and are determined by a mathematical calculation. However, funds that
do not meet the major fund mathematical criteria may be reported as major if they are of
particular importance or interest to users. A county should consider the following factors when
deciding to report other funds as major funds:
•

Political/social sensitivity of the activities financed from that fund,

•

Impact or potential impact of that fund on other programs or services,

•

Significance of that fund on financing activities that are of high interest to the public,

•

Existence of known uses or users of that information (such as bond rating companies),

•

Relative size, and

•

Year-to-year consistency in reporting.
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Major fund reporting applies only to governmental and enterprise funds. It does not apply to
internal service or fiduciary funds. The determination of which funds are major must be made
each year. The general fund is always reported as a major fund.
Governmental and enterprise funds are required to be reported as major funds if they meet the
following criteria:
1.

Total assets, liabilities, revenues, or expenditures/expenses (of the year being reported)
of that individual fund are at least ten percent of the corresponding element total (assets,
liabilities, etc.) for all funds of that category or type (either total governmental funds or
total enterprise funds); and

2.

The same element (assets, liabilities, etc.) that met the above ten percent is at least five
percent of the corresponding element total for all governmental and enterprise funds
combined.

A spreadsheet is available on the Office of the State Auditor’s website at
www.osa.state.mn.us to help in determining major funds. However, while using the
spreadsheet, remember:
1.

The individual fund has to meet both criteria to be required to be reported as a major
fund.

2.

No elimination of interfund balances are necessary to apply the criteria, although
significant amounts of interfund payables and receivables may be netted.

3.

Total revenues means all revenues--both operating and nonoperating revenues of
enterprise funds, including capital contributions. It does not include other financing
sources, transfers, or extraordinary items.

4.

Total expenditures/expenses means all expenditures or expenses--both operating and
nonoperating expenses of enterprise funds. It does not include other financing uses,
transfers, or extraordinary items.

5.

The test should be applied to the amounts reported in the fund financial statements of the
current year being reported.
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Nonmajor Funds
Nonmajor funds should be aggregated and reported in a single column to the right of the major
funds in the financial statements. It is not permitted to use more than one column for nonmajor
funds. Interfund transactions and balances may be, but are not required to be, eliminated when
nonmajor funds are combined.
If there are no major enterprise funds, all enterprise funds should be reported in one column
and the internal services in a second column on the proprietary funds financial statements.
Internal service funds will always be combined into one column to the right of the major and
aggregated nonmajor enterprise funds on the proprietary funds financial statements.
Combining statements for nonmajor funds are presented as supplementary information.
On the balance sheet, any unreserved fund balances of nonmajor funds should be displayed by
fund type.
Fiduciary funds are to be reported in the fund financial statements by fund type--pension trust,
investment trust, private purpose trust, or agency.
PROCEDURES:
Governmental Funds’ Financial Statements
Governmental funds should be reported using the current financial resources measurement
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. A reconciliation of total governmental
fund balances to net assets of the governmental activities in the statement of net assets is
required. The reconciliation may be presented either at the bottom of the balance sheet or in
an accompanying schedule.
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Balance Sheet
The financial information is required to be reported in separate columns for the general fund,
each major governmental fund, and all nonmajor governmental funds in the aggregate. Current
assets, liabilities, and fund balances of the governmental funds should be displayed in a balance
sheet format: Current Assets = Current Liabilities + Fund Balance. Capital assets and general
long-term liabilities are not reported in the governmental fund balance sheet. They are reported
only in the government-wide financial statements.
When preparing the governmental funds’ balance sheet, remember:
•

Unreserved fund balances of nonmajor funds should be reported by fund type.

•

Interfund liabilities should be reported as fund liabilities regardless of their date of
scheduled repayment. Interfund loans may be reported as short-term or long-term
liabilities depending on their conditions. Fund balances should be reserved for
noncurrent interfund receivables.

•

Equity interest in joint ventures should not be reported as an asset in the governmental
funds’ balance sheet, except for amounts that meet the definition of financial resources
(that is, receivables from/payables to the joint ventures). All equity interest should be
reported in the government-wide financial statements.

•

A reconciliation that shows adjustments made between the balance sheet and the
government-wide statement of net assets is required on the bottom of the balance sheet.

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance
The governmental funds’ statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balance
reports information about the inflows, outflows, and balances of current financial resources of
each major governmental fund and for the nonmajor governmental funds in the aggregate. The
statement is arranged:
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Revenues (detailed)
Expenditures (detailed)
Revenues over (under) expenditures
Other financing sources and uses, including transfers (detailed)
Special and extraordinary items (detailed)
Net change in fund balances
Fund balances - beginning
Fund balances - ending
When preparing the governmental funds’ statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in
fund balance, remember:
•

The governmental fund statements should classify revenues by major source (taxes,
licenses and permits, etc.) and expenditures by function (general government, public
safety, highways and streets, human services, etc.). Additional details may be included.

•

Debt issue costs paid out of either debt proceeds or from existing resources should be
reported as expenditures. When debt is issued, the face amount of the debt should be
reported as other financing sources, and debt premiums or discounts should be shown as
a separate component of other financing sources (uses).

•

Sales of assets (unless considered a special item) and transfers should also be shown as
separate categories of other financing sources (uses).

•

Extraordinary and special items should be separated after other financing sources (uses).

Counties are required to provide a summary reconciliation between total change in
governmental fund balances and the change in net assets in governmental activities in the
statement of activities. The reconciliation may be presented either on the statement of
revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balance or in an accompanying schedule.

August 2003
Minnesota County Financial Accounting & Reporting Standards

STANDARD PROCEDURES
Reporting (Continued)

3350
Page 7

Proprietary Funds’ Financial Statements
Proprietary funds are presented using the economic resources measurement focus and the full
accrual basis of accounting, the same way as in the government-wide financial statements.
Each major enterprise fund, all nonmajor enterprise funds in the aggregate, and all internal
service funds in the aggregate are reported (in separate columns) in the proprietary funds’
financial statements.
The following are required fund financial statements for proprietary funds:
•

Statement of net assets (or balance sheet);

•

Statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in fund net assets; and

•

Statement of cash flows.

The statements should include a combined total column for all enterprise funds. The
information in that column flows directly to the business-type activities column on the
government-wide financial statements. Interfund eliminations within enterprise funds are not
required.
Statement of Fund Net Assets or Balance Sheet
Governments have the option of two reporting formats: statement of net assets format (assets
minus liabilities equal net assets) or balance sheet format (assets equal liabilities plus net
assets).
The assets and liabilities should be presented in a classified format. This requires reporting
assets and liabilities as either current or noncurrent. A one-year cut-off is typical when
determining if assets are expected to be realized in cash or consumed and liabilities are
expected to be paid. Current assets include cash available from current operations, receivables,
inventories, prepaid expenses, and investments. Current liabilities include accounts payable,
notes payable, amounts due to other funds, current portions of long-term debt, current portions
of compensated absences, and claims and judgments payable.
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Restricted assets are reported as a separate line item. Restrictions are required to be reported
for assets restricted for use other than operations, assets restricted for the acquisition or
construction of noncurrent assets, and assets restricted for sinking funds or for the liquidation
of long-term debts. Most restricted assets are noncurrent. However, restricted assets to be
used in current operations (for example, certain grants) should be reported as current assets.
Liabilities payable from restricted assets may be reported separately.
Fund net assets should be reported in three components:
•

Invested in capital assets, net of related debt;

•

Restricted (list by major restriction); and

•

Unrestricted.

If internal service funds are reported as business-type activities in the government-wide
statement of net assets, a reconciliation may be necessary between the statement of fund net
assets and the government-wide statement of net assets.
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Assets
A specific format is required for this statement:
Operating revenues (detailed)
Operating expenses (detailed)
Operating income (loss)
Nonoperating revenues and expenses (detailed)
Income before other revenues, expenses, gains, losses, and transfers
Capital contributions (detailed)
Additions to permanent and term endowments (detailed)
Special items (detailed)
Extraordinary items (detailed)
Increase (decrease) in net assets
Net assets - beginning of period
Net assets - end of period
This is an all-inclusive format. All transactions (including capital contributions) that affect net
assets should be included. No amounts may be reported as direct additions to net assets.
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Revenues should be reported by major source. All revenues should be reported net of
discounts and allowances, which should be reported parenthetically or in the notes to the
financial statements. Uncollectible amounts should not be reported as expenses but as an
adjustment to revenues.
Revenues and expenses should distinguish between operating and nonoperating. Counties
should establish their own policy for defining operating and nonoperating revenues and
expenses, and the policy should be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. The
following revenues usually would be considered nonoperating:
•

Operating grants and contributions and grants and contributions that are not restricted to
either operating or capital functions.

•

Property or other taxes.

•

Exchange-like transactions that are restricted for capital or financing purposes.

•

Interest and dividends and realized and unrealized gains or losses on investments.

•

Interest expense, debt issue expenses, and premiums or discounts on debt.

Counties should consider the nature of the activity being reported when classifying the
revenues in the financial statements.
Both operating and nonoperating expenses may be detailed at the object or function level.
If the amounts differ between the statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in fund net
assets and the business-type activities presented in the government-wide statement of changes
in net assets, counties should present a summary reconciliation.
Statement of Cash Flows
For proprietary funds, a statement of cash flows is required and is prepared using the direct
method of cash flows. The statement should consist of the following sections:
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C

Cash flows from operating activities.

C

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities.

C

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities.

C

Cash flows from investing activities.

C

The change for the year in cash and cash equivalents.

C

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash provided (used) by operating
activities.

Also, if applicable, a section identifying significant non-cash transactions should be included.
If not clearly evident from the statement, the ending amount of cash and cash equivalents
should reconcile with the statement of net assets.
Fiduciary Funds’ Financial Statements
Two statements are required for fiduciary funds: statement of fiduciary net assets and
statement of changes in fiduciary net assets. The fiduciary statements are prepared using the
economic resources measurement focus and full accrual basis of accounting.
Major fund reporting does not apply to fiduciary funds. Component units that are fiduciary in
nature should be reported within the fund type columns with the fiduciary funds of the primary
government--a separate column for fiduciary component units should not be presented.
Agency funds should be reported in the statement of net assets, and fund assets should equal
fund liabilities. Agency funds do not have operations and should not be reported in the
statement of changes in fiduciary net assets.
Statement of Fiduciary Net Assets
This statement should include information about the assets, liabilities, and net assets for each
fiduciary fund type and similar discretely presented component units. Since the statement of
fiduciary net assets is an equivalent to the statement of plan assets required by GASB
Statement 25, the county should provide a sufficient level of detail to meet both requirements.
If not, the county should clearly indicate where else that information is displayed.
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Net assets should be labeled based on the purpose for which they are held in trust, such as
“held in trust for investment pool participants.”
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Assets
The statement of changes in fiduciary net assets should include information about the additions
to, deductions from, and net increase (decrease) for the year in net assets for each fiduciary
fund type and similar discretely presented component units. It should provide information
about significant year-to-year changes in net assets. The county should provide additional
details about investments and provide the required level of detail for all other fiduciary funds
or clearly indicate where that information is displayed.
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SUBJECT:
Notes to the Financial Statements
PURPOSE:
To describe minimum requirements for the notes to the basic financial statements.
PRINCIPLES:
The notes to the financial statements are intended to communicate information necessary for
a fair presentation of financial position and results of operations that is not readily apparent
from, or cannot be included in, the financial statements themselves. The notes are an integral
part of the financial statements and should supplement them.
Notes to the financial statements may be in various formats, such as narrative, tables,
schedules, or matrices, as long as they include the required information.
PROCEDURES:
The presentation format for note disclosures is open to professional judgment. The only
specific requirement addressed in authoritative guidance concerns the summary of significant
accounting policies (SSAP). The SSAP must be either a separate disclosure at the beginning
of the notes or at the beginning of the first note. The authoritative guidance addresses the
content of the notes but does not prescribe a particular format. It is the responsibility of the
preparer to present the note disclosures in the manner that most effectively (and concisely)
provides the information necessary for fair presentation.
The authoritative literature requires that financial statements be accompanied by a SSAP. The
SSAP should include any of the following situations:
•

The selection of a policy from existing acceptable alternatives (for example, depreciating
infrastructure assets rather than using the modified approach).
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•

Principles and methods peculiar to the industry in which an entity operates (for example,
defining the governmental reporting entity).

•

Unusual or innovative applications of generally accepted accounting principles.

The preparer may use any note disclosure sequence that is logical and consistent.
Section 4XXX contains some sample note disclosures. While note disclosures themselves
should be indexed in a logical manner, a separate index page (similar to a table of contents)
for the note disclosures is not necessary.
Note disclosures should be included only for information specifically applicable to the entity.
Negative disclosures should be avoided. For example, if a county does not have any material
subsequent events, then references should not be made to subsequent events. The notes should
focus on the primary government--specifically, its governmental activities, business-type
activities, major funds, and nonmajor funds in the aggregate.
Certain information may be presented either on the face of the financial statements or in the
notes to the financial statements. Disclosure in the notes to the financial statements is needed
only when the information required to be disclosed is not displayed on the face of the financial
statements.
Notes to the financial statements essential to fair presentation in the basic financial statements
include:
1.

Summary of significant accounting policies, including:
a.

A description of the government-wide financial statements, noting that neither
fiduciary funds nor component units that are fiduciary in nature are included. This
section could include descriptive comments about the purposes and scope of the
statements of net assets and activities. For example, disclosures could address
what are governmental and business-type activities, why fiduciary funds and
similar component units are not included, what are the components of net assets,
and what are the key elements of the statement of activities. This discussion differs
from that in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis which is oriented more
toward the relationship of the government-wide financial statements to the fund
financial statements.
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b.

A brief description of the component units of the reporting entity and their
relationship to the county. This should include a discussion of the criteria for
including the component units and how the component units are reported. Also,
it should include information about how the separate financial statements for
individual component units may be obtained.

c.

A description of the activities accounted for in each of the following
columns--major funds, internal service funds, and fiduciary fund types--presented
in the basic financial statements.

d.

The measurement focus and basis of accounting used in the government-wide
statements.

e.

The revenue recognition policies used in fund financial statements, including the
length of time used to define available for purposes of revenue recognition in the
governmental fund financial statements.

f.

The policy for eliminating internal activity in the government-wide statement of
activities. The disclosure is intended to give readers a general understanding of
how internal activity is reported in the statement of activities. For example, the
policy could explain that direct expenses (charges based on actual use) are not
eliminated, whereas indirect expense allocations made in the funds are reversed
(unless reported in the separate column). Similarly, the note could explain
generally which internal payments are reported as program revenues and which
ones reduce the expenses of the reimbursed programs.

g.

The policy for capitalizing assets and for estimating useful lives of those assets
(used to calculate depreciation expense). Governments that choose to use the
modified approach for reporting eligible infrastructure assets should describe that
approach.

h.

A description of the types of transactions included in program revenues and the
policy for allocating indirect expenses to functions in the statement of activities.

i.

The policy for defining operating and nonoperating revenues of proprietary funds.

j.

The policy for applying FASB pronouncements issued after November 30, 1989,
to business-type activities and to enterprise funds of the primary government.
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k.

The definition of cash and cash equivalents used in the statement of cash flows for
proprietary funds.

l.

The county’s policy regarding whether to first apply restricted or unrestricted
resources when an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and
unrestricted net assets are available. Does the county expend restricted funds only
when unrestricted amounts are insufficient or unavailable, or do they spend
restricted funds first and use unrestricted resources when restricted funds are
depleted (for example, tax increment monies)?

2.

Cash deposits with financial institutions.

3.

Investments.

4.

Significant contingent liabilities.

5.

Encumbrances outstanding.

6.

Significant effects of subsequent events.

7.

Annual pension cost and net pension obligations.

8.

Significant violations of finance-related legal or contractual provisions and actions taken
to address such violations.

9.

Debt service requirements to maturity. Requirements should be shown separately by year
for each of the five subsequent years and in five-year increments thereafter. Also,
principal must be shown separately from interest for each of those years.

10.

Commitments under noncapitalized (operating) leases.

11.

Construction and other significant commitments.

l2.

Required disclosures about capital assets. The information provided should be divided
into major classes of capital assets as well as between those associated with
governmental activities and those associated with business-type activities. Capital assets
that are not being depreciated should be disclosed separately from those that are being
depreciated. Information presented should include beginning and end-of-year balances
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(with accumulated depreciation presented separately from historical cost), capital
acquisitions, sales or other dispositions, and current-period depreciation expense, with
disclosure of the amounts charged to each of the functions in the statement of activities.
13.

Required disclosures about long-term liabilities. The information provided should be
divided into major classes of long-term liabilities as well as between those associated
with governmental activities and those associated with business-type activities. Both
long-term debt (such as bonds, notes, loans, and leases payable) and other long-term
liabilities (such as compensated absences and claims and judgments) should be included.
Information presented about long-term liabilities should include beginning and
end-of-year balances, increases and decreases (presented separately), the portions of each
item that are due within one year of the financial statement date, and which governmental
funds typically have been used to liquidate other long-term liabilities in prior years.

14.

Deficit fund balance or net assets of individual nonmajor funds.

15.

Interfund receivables and payables.

16.

For each major component unit, the nature and amount of significant transactions with
other discretely presented component units or with the primary government.

17.

Disclosures about donor-restricted endowments.

The above notes to the financial statements are not all-inclusive, and additional disclosures
should be made, if applicable. Some possible additional disclosures include:
1.

Entity risk management activities.

2.

Property taxes.

3.

Segment information for enterprise funds.

4.

Condensed financial information for major discretely presented component units.

5.

Short-term debt instruments and liquidity.

6.

Related party transactions.
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7.

The nature of the primary government’s accountability for related organizations.

8.

Capital leases.

9.

Joint ventures and jointly-governed organizations.

10.

Debt refundings.

11.

Nonexchange transactions, including grants, taxes, and contributions, that are not
recognized because they are not measurable.

12.

Fund balance designations.

13.

Interfund eliminations in fund financial statements not apparent from headings.

14.

Pension plans.

15.

Bond, tax, or revenue anticipation notes excluded from fund or current liabilities
(proprietary funds).

16.

Nature and amount of inconsistencies in financial statements caused by transactions
between component units having different fiscal year-ends or changes in component unit
fiscal year-ends.

17.

In component unit separate reports, identification of the primary government in whose
financial report the component unit is included and a description of its relationship to the
primary government.

18.

Reverse repurchase and dollar reverse repurchase agreements.

19.

Securities lending transactions.

20.

Special assessment debt and related activities.

21.

Demand bonds.

22.

Post-employment benefits other than pension benefits.
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23.

Landfill closure and postclosure care.

24.

On-behalf payments for fringe benefits and salaries.

25.

Entity involvement in conduit debt obligations.

26.

Sponsoring government disclosures about external investment pools reported as
investment trust funds.

27.

The amount of interest expense included in direct expenses in the government-wide
statement of activities.

28.

Significant transactions or other events that are either unusual or infrequent but not
within the control of management.

29.

Nature of individual elements of a particular reconciling item if obscured in the
aggregated information in the summary reconciliation of the fund financial statements
to the government-wide statements.

30.

Discounts and allowances that reduce gross revenues when not reported on the face of
the financial statements.

Governments may elect to report budgetary comparison information in a budgetary comparison
statement as part of the basic financial statements rather than as required supplementary
information. If the budgetary comparison information is included in the basic financial
statements, the notes should include disclosures of any excess of expenditures over
appropriations in individual funds presented in the budgetary comparison statements.
Section 4XXX provides a suggested disclosure sequence for the notes to the financial
statements.
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SUBJECT:
Required Supplementary Information
PURPOSE:
To describe required supplementary information.
PRINCIPLES:
Required supplementary information (RSI) consists of schedules, statistical data, and other
information that the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) has determined are
an essential part of financial reporting and should be presented with, but not part of, the basic
financial statements of a governmental entity. With the exception of the Management’s
Discussion and Analysis (MD&A), all RSI should be presented immediately following the
notes to the basic financial statements. GASB requires as RSI:
C

MD&A;

C

Budgetary comparisons;

C

Infrastructure condition and maintenance data, if using the modified approach;

C

Pension trend data; and

C

Revenue and claims development trend data for public entity risk pools.

PROCEDURES:
MD&A
The MD&A should provide the users with an introductory narrative, overview, and analysis
of the basic financial statements. Although it is RSI, the MD&A should be presented before
the basic financial statements. It introduces the basic financial statements and notes and is
meant to guide the readers through those statements and notes.
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The MD&A should be written by the county auditor, finance manager, controller,
administrator, or someone in a similar position. It should be objective and easily readable.
The objectivity is a result of being solely based on information that comes from the basic
financial statements and facts currently known by management. It should discuss both
positive and negative outcomes of the county’s operations. Counties are encouraged to use
charts, graphs, and tables to enhance the understandability of the MD&A.
The MD&A should focus on the primary government. The decision whether to address matters
related to component units depends on the size of a particular component unit in comparison
with other discretely presented component units and the nature of its relationship with the
primary government. Any discussion in the MD&A involving both the primary government
and its discretely presented component units must be distinguishable between the two.
The content of the MD&A is a specifically required set of information that the county must
address. Since the MD&A is a required part of RSI, it should not contain additional topics that
are not specified in this section. However, the county is free to provide whatever level of detail
it feels is appropriate in addressing each topic.
Discussion of the Basic Financial Statements
The discussion portion of the MD&A should describe the financial statements and the
significant differences in the kinds of information each statement provides. It should focus on
the relationship between governmental funds and governmental activities.
Condensed Comparative Financial Data
The MD&A should provide condensed financial statements derived from the government-wide
financial statements for both the current and prior fiscal period. Comparative data should be
provided for:
•

Total assets, distinguishing between capital and other assets.

•

Total liabilities, distinguishing between long-term and other liabilities.

•

Total net assets, distinguishing between amounts invested in capital assets net of related
debt, restricted amounts, and unrestricted amounts.

•

Program revenues, by major source.
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•

General revenues, by major source.

•

Total revenues.

•

Program expenses, by function.

•

Total expenses.

•

Excess (deficiency) before contributions, special and extraordinary items, and transfers.

•

Contributions.

•

Special and extraordinary items.

•

Transfers.

•

Change in net assets.

•

Ending net assets.

The above information should be presented in the form of condensed financial statements. The
government may use graphs or charts to supplement or elaborate the statements, but not to
replace them.
Overall Analysis of Financial Position and Results of Operations
The MD&A should discuss and analyze the county’s financial position and results of
operations. This discussion and analysis needs to address whether the county’s overall
financial position has improved or deteriorated. The MD&A should provide reasons for the
significant changes in financial position, not just the changes and their size or percentage of
change. The overall analysis discussion needs to address separately the governmental and
business-type activities and should emphasize the current year.
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Fund Analysis
The fund analysis focuses on significant balances and operations of individual major funds.
The discussion should emphasize the reasons for significant changes in fund balances
(governmental funds) or fund net assets (proprietary funds). Additional information should
be provided on any significant limitations on the future use of fund resources.
Budget Variances in the General Fund
The MD&A should address, on a budgetary basis, the significant differences between:
•

The original budget for the general fund and the final amended budget, and

•

The final amended budget for the general fund and the actual amounts.

The analysis should give reasons for variances if they significantly affect either future services
or liquidity.
Capital Asset and Long-Term Debt Activity
The MD&A should describe significant changes in:
•

Capital assets,

•

Long-term debt,

•

Commitments for capital expenditures, and

•

Debt limitations that could affect the financing of planned facilities or services.

This section is not intended to repeat information provided in the notes, but should be
summarized and referenced to the more detailed information provided in the notes.
Infrastructure
Counties that elect to use the modified approach to infrastructure reporting should discuss all
of the following in the MD&A:
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•

Significant changes in condition levels of infrastructure assets.

•

How current condition levels compare with target condition levels established by the
county.

•

Significant differences between the amount estimated to be necessary for maintaining
and preserving infrastructure assets at target condition levels and the actual amounts of
expense incurred for that purpose during the current fiscal period.

Other Potentially Significant Matters
The MD&A should also address any currently known facts, decisions, or conditions that are
expected to have a significant effect on financial position. This discussion should be based on
events or decisions that have already occurred or have been enacted, adopted, agreed upon, or
contracted. In some instances, issues discussed here will also be disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements as subsequent events or contingencies. The discussion should also address
the effect on governmental and business-type activities separately.
Examples of the types of situations for such reporting are:
•

Award and acceptance of a major grant.

•

Adjudication of significant lawsuit.

•

Reassessment of taxable property.

•

Completion of an agreement to locate a major manufacturing plant in the county.

•

A flood that caused significant damage to the county’s infrastructure.

•

A renegotiated labor contract with government employees.

August 2003
Minnesota County Financial Accounting & Reporting Standards

STANDARD PROCEDURES
Reporting (Continued)

3370
Page 6

BUDGETARY COMPARISONS SCHEDULES
Budgetary comparison schedules should be presented in the RSI for the general fund and each
major special revenue fund that has a legally adopted annual budget. However, counties may
elect to report the budgetary comparison information in a budgetary comparison statement as
part of the basic financial statements (with the fund financial statements after the related
statement of changes in revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balance), rather than as
RSI. The format and contents of the budgetary comparisons are the same in either case.
Budgetary comparison schedules should provide at least three separate types of information.
1.

The original budget--the first complete legally appropriated budget adjusted for changes
occurring before the beginning of the fiscal year. The original budget should also include
actual appropriation amounts automatically carried over from prior years by law.

2.

The final budget--including all legally authorized changes occurring during and after the
end of the fiscal year.

3.

Actual inflows, outflows, and balances--these should be reported on the same basis as the
legally adopted budget.

Notes to RSI should disclose an explanation of the excesses of expenditures over
appropriations in individual funds presented in the budgetary comparisons. If budgetary
comparison information is included in the basic financial statements, these disclosures should
be in the notes to the financial statements rather than the notes to RSI. If the excess of
expenditures over appropriations is considered a material violation of legal provisions, the
disclosure should be made in the notes to the financial statements also.
Counties may present the budgetary comparison schedules using the same format, terminology,
and classification as the budget document or using the format, terminology, and classifications
in a statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances. Regardless of the
format used, the schedule should be accompanied by information that reconciles budgetary
information to generally accepted accounting principles information. The reconciliation may
be in a separate schedule in the notes to RSI.

August 2003
Minnesota County Financial Accounting & Reporting Standards

STANDARD PROCEDURES
Reporting (Continued)

3370
Page 7

INFRASTRUCTURE CONDITION AND MAINTENANCE DATA
Counties that follow the modified approach have to present the following information for all
infrastructure reported using that method:
1.

The results and dates of the three most recently completed condition assessments to
demonstrate the assets have been maintained at or above the condition level established.

2.

The estimated annual amount needed and actual amount expensed to maintain or
preserve infrastructure assets at the level established, with each presented for the past
five reporting periods. The estimated annual amount must be determined using the assets
management system. It should be calculated at the beginning of the fiscal year and
documented providing an auditor with information necessary for the comparison of
estimated and actual amounts.

These schedules should be accompanied by the following disclosures as notes to RSI:
•

The basis for the condition measurement and the measurement scale used to assess and
report the condition.

•

The condition level at which the county intends to preserve its infrastructure assets
reported on the modified approach.

•

Factors that significantly affect trends in the information reported in the required
schedules, including any changes in the measurement scale, the basis for the condition
measurement, or the condition assessment methods used during the periods covered by
the schedules. If there is a change in the condition level at which the county intends to
preserve the eligible infrastructure assets, an estimate of the effect of the change on the
estimated annual amount to maintain and preserve those assets for the current period
should be disclosed.
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PENSION TREND DATA
Governments that administer defined benefit pension plans must present a schedule of funding
progress and a schedule of employer contributions as RSI. Since no counties currently
administer defined benefit pension plans, examples are not included here. Information on
required disclosures may be obtained in GASB Statement No. 25, Financial Reporting for
Defined Benefit Pension Plans and Note Disclosure for Defined Contribution Plans, and
GASB Statement No. 27, Accounting for Pensions by State and Local Governments.
Revenue and Claims Development Trend Data for Public Entity Risk Pools
Governments that sponsor public entity risk pools must present tables of information on
revenues and claims development trends for the pools. Since no counties currently sponsor
public entity risk pools, examples are not included here. Information on required disclosures
may be obtained in GASB Statement No. 10, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Risk
Financing and Related Insurance Issues, Statement No. 30, Risk Financing Omnibus, and
Statement No. 31, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain Investments and for
External Investment Pools.
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SUBJECT:
Minimum Budgeting
PURPOSE:
To develop a rational plan within each county for raising and spending financial resources.
DEFINITIONS:
A budget is a forecast of expected resources and the purposeful distribution of those resources.
When a budget is appropriated by resolution, it provides both the right to spend and limits the
amount to be spent.
An original budget is the first complete appropriated budget. The original budget may be
adjusted by reserves, transfers, allocations, supplemental appropriations, and other legally
authorized legislative and executive changes before the beginning of the fiscal year.
A final amended budget is a term used in budgetary reporting. The original budget adjusted
by all reserves, transfers, allocations, supplemental appropriations, and other legally authorized
changes applicable to the year, signed into law or otherwise legally authorized.
PROCEDURE:
An annual budget must be adopted by every governmental unit to plan and control the financial
operations of the governmental funds. However, the financial resources available (through
taxes, licenses, etc.) during the period are substantially unrelated to the demand for the goods
and services financed through them. Therefore, the planning process involves determining the
levels of services to be provided and allocating available resources among various
governmental departments, programs, or functions.
Upon adoption by the county board, the expenditure estimates and the annual budget, as
modified, are appropriated to the various operational entities within the county. The
appropriations constitute maximum expenditure authorizations during the fiscal year and
cannot legally be exceeded unless subsequently amended by the board.
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Budget amendments should receive the same attention at the county board level as the
enactment of the original budget. That is, the board should pass a formal resolution including
dollar amounts of budget amendments.
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SUBJECT:
Suggested Budgeting
PURPOSE:
To expand the annual budget by providing:
N

Budgetary controls within the accounting system of a county.

N

Appropriate budgetary comparison on the financial statements and budget/expenditure
reports.

PROCEDURE:
The annual appropriation made by a county’s legislative body becomes the operating budget
of the various departments within the county. Consequently, all counties have the capability
of holding department heads accountable for operating within their budgets. However, this
capability is meaningless unless periodic comparisons of budgets to actual spending are made.
When spending deviates from budget, the county board can investigate the reasons and take
appropriate action to resolve any problem indicated by the deviations.
While there may be a tendency to view deviations from budget in terms of overspending, there
may also be instances of over-budgeting. These can occur because programs that were to be
started were delayed, or people expected to be hired were either not needed, the hiring was
delayed, or other funding (grants, etc.) became available.
In either instance (over-spending or over-budgeting), an appropriate ongoing comparison
between budgets and spending allows the county board or other county legislative body to
rationally reallocate resources and be accountable to the public.
Depending on the accounting system maintained, these comparisons can be made at whatever
level and as often as is deemed most useful to the board. Some will find monthly comparisons
at the program or service level most useful.
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Elements of a Budget System
In order to work effectively, a budget system should provide for:
1.

A structure which presents data in categories reflecting the organization’s objectives.

2.

Continual analysis by each organization of how its plan meets these objectives.

3.

Alternative objectives and alternative plans for meeting these objectives.

4.

An integrated planning/budgeting process incorporating data that are meaningful for
decision making.

5.

Broad planning decisions in a budget context.

6.

Timely presentation of plans and financial data for action by the legislative body.

In short, the system must allow decision makers to see how resources can be used to meet
objectives.
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SUBJECT:
Program-Oriented Budgeting
PRINCIPLE:
Accounting data should be oriented primarily to organizational responsibilities.
RATIONALE AND BENEFITS:
There is increased emphasis at all levels of government to achieve program objectives with
efficiency and economy. This underscores the need for performance budgeting. The key
element in this type of evaluation is the ability to measure each activity in terms of work
performed for the monies allocated. While performance budgeting relates expenditures to
measurement of services provided, planning-programming-budget systems (PPBS) add a
multi-year planning concept to this approach and provide analyses of the costs of alternative
means of attaining objectives.
The idea of responsibility accounting reflects the fact that planning and control are attained
through people. The concept of profit-center and responsibility-center accounting requires that
both the chart of accounts and internal accounting reports be designed to correspond with the
organizational responsibility of individual managers.
These accounting goals are not necessarily inconsistent with the concept of fund accounting.
The actual results accumulated through the accounting system are comparable with budget
standards. The comparison of actual results for one period with the actual results of prior
periods (or with budget standards of the current period) provides a meaningful evaluation.
Many specific fund activities may also be organized according to unique individual
responsibilities. Many enterprise fund activities and a significant number of programs lend
themselves to this type of analysis.
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IMPLEMENTATION:
Approaches
Implementing the concepts of program-oriented budgeting within the framework of fund
accounting can be planned. Initial steps would include:
N

Establishing lines of responsibility which are congruent with fund, program, enterprise,
or other activity levels.

N

Measuring current performance and meeting program objectives in relationship to cost.

N

Considering alternative services and accomplishment levels on a responsibility basis.

N

Statistically summarizing data of past performances.
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SUBJECT:
Long-Range Planning
RATIONALE AND BENEFITS:
The purpose of long-range planning is to provide a better understanding (for departments,
administrators, board members, and citizens) of the activities and functions the county
performs and the resources needed to continue or extend these services. If properly managed,
long-range planning will reduce the extent to which immediate crises dominate a county’s
budgeting and resource allocation decisions.
Each fund or department should develop long-range plans of its activities. These plans should
contain descriptions of departmental goals, its service recipients or customers, and other
performance criteria. Where specific problems or projects are foreseen, the plan should
describe the problem and discuss the costs and benefits of alternative solutions, indicating
which solution is preferred and why. These departmental or functional long-range plans should
be coordinated into a comprehensive plan for the entire county.
At the same time, the county should be estimating its probable resources. Administrative and
legislative officials should review and adjust the long-range plans to meet resource projections.
In order to be effective, long-range planning needs to be a continuous process; updating
long-range plans should be performed at the beginning of the annual budget process.
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